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The graphics on the cover depict the idea that the
Competition Commission is rapidly maturing as a robust law
enforcement agency, uncovering anti-competitive conduct
and capturing businesses and individuals engaged in such
behaviours. Over the past year, a number of judgments
on sanctions were handed down for the first time by the
Competition Tribunal penalising cartelists. Ushering in its
sixth year of full operation, the Commission looks forward to
accomplishing more not only on its enforcement, but also
its policy and advocacy work so that everyone in Hong Kong
can benefit from competitive markets free of collusions and

abusive conduct.
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HBEHKZESE Competition Commission

WHO WE ARE

The Competition Commission (Commission) is an independent statutory
body established under the Competition Ordinance (Ordinance) (Cap.
619) which came into full effect on 14 December 2015. The Commission
is committed to promoting a competitive environment that is conducive
to free flow of trade, efficiency and innovation, bringing increased choice
and better quality and lower prices of goods and services to consumers in
Hong Kong.

WHAT WE DO

The objective of the Ordinance is to prohibit agreements, practices and
conduct that prevent, restrict or distort competition, and to prohibit
mergers that substantially lessen competition in Hong Kong. The scope
of application of the Merger Rule is currently limited to mergers involving
undertakings directly or indirectly holding carrier licences issued under the
Telecommunications Ordinance (Cap. 106).

The Commission is tasked with the following functions under the Ordinance:

To investigate conduct that may contravene the competition rules of
the Ordinance and enforce the provisions of the Ordinance;

To promote public understanding of the value of competition and
how the Ordinance promotes competition;

To promote the adoption by undertakings carrying on business in
Hong Kong of appropriate internal controls and risk management
systems and to ensure their compliance with the Ordinance;

To advise the Government on competition matters in Hong Kong and
outside Hong Kong;

To conduct market studies into matters affecting competition in
markets in Hong Kong; and

To promote research into and the development of skills in relation to
the legal, economic and policy aspects of competition law in Hong
Kong.
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About the Competition Commission

The Commission’s Vision, Mission and Values embody the spirit in which we
carry out our duties to safeguard competition in Hong Kong by enforcing
the Ordinance.

VISION

To safeguard a level-playing field for consumers and businesses in Hong
Kong, enhancing economic vibrancy, stimulating innovation and delivering

consumer benefits.
MISSION

To prevent anti-competitive agreements, practices and conduct through
nurturing a culture conducive to competition, advocating compliance and

engaging in effective law enforcement.
VALUES

Independent: We will act independently within the confines of the
law;

Professional: We will take action and make decisions in an impartial,

objective and professional manner;

Transparent: We will make ourselves accessible and accountable for
our decisions and actions; and

Integrity: We will treat all people with respect, protect personal
interests and uphold ethical standards.
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Competition Commission

PR X B

| am pleased to present to you the Annual Report 2020/2021 of the
Competition Commission, the first annual report since | took up the
chairmanship of the Commission.

Despite the challenges posed by the COVID-19 pandemic over the past year,
the Commission has progressed well with numerous milestones achieved
across its different facets of work. A number of important judgments have
also been handed down by the Competition Tribunal, setting landmark
precedents for the jurisprudence of Hong Kong's competition regime.

In less than six years of its full operation, the Commission has commenced
proceedings in seven cases and was successful in all five cases already ruled
by the Tribunal, except as against one respondent in one of the earlier
cases. The other two cases are yet to be determined at full trial on dates
to be fixed. During the year, the Tribunal has handed down judgments
on pecuniary penalties in four cases, ordering both undertakings and
individuals to pay HK$14.4 million of fines together with legal costs of
more than HK$8.6 million. In one of these cases the Tribunal has also issued
Hong Kong’s first director disqualification order for contravention of the
First Conduct Rule of the Competition Ordinance.

On top of the above landmark decisions, Hong Kong's competition regime
reached a pivotal milestone last December when the Commission filed
the city’s first abuse of substantial market power case in contravention of

the Second Conduct Rule before the Tribunal. It is a solid testimony to the
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Chairman’s Statement

Commission’s commitment to enforce the full spectrum of the Ordinance and

provide greater guidance to the business and legal communities in Hong Kong.

Over the past year, in addition to bringing cases to court, the Commission also
endeavoured to resolve competition issues promptly and proportionately
by using non-litigation remedies provided under the Ordinance where
appropriate. One good example was the Commission’s conclusion of its
investigation into the Hong Kong Seaport Alliance, a joint venture formed
between four major container terminal operators, by accepting a novel
and robust set of commitments from the parties, thus addressing the
Commission’s competition concerns in an effective and timely manner. The
investigation into the case involved complex issues of market definition,
competitive effects, efficiencies and remedy design, and its successful
conclusion is a testament to the Commission’s capacity to handle highly
complex competition matters.

The Commission has also accepted commitments offered by three of
the world’s leading online travel agents which resulted in a complete
abandonment of wide parity clauses (regarding room prices, availability
and room conditions) in their contracts with accommodation providers
in Hong Kong that may harm competition. During the year under review,
infringement notices have also been issued to some of Hong Kong’s largest
hotel groups and a tour counter operator for facilitating a price fixing cartel
between two competing travel service providers. This is the first time the
Commission pursues facilitators of cartel conduct, driving home the message
that not only cartelists, but third parties who facilitate anti-competitive
conduct will also run the risk of facing enforcement action.

To further enhance enforcement effectiveness and efficiencies, over the
last couple of years the Commission has incorporated compliance oriented
requirements and incentives into its enforcement policy instruments. In April
2020, the Commission enhanced its leniency framework for cartel conduct
by revising the Leniency Policy for Undertakings as well as publishing a
new Leniency Policy for Individuals. A Policy on Recommended Pecuniary
Penalties was also published in June 2020 to provide transparency on the
methodology the Commission will use in making fine recommendations to
the Tribunal. To strengthen deterrence, the Commission will not hesitate to
pursue the liability of individuals, where appropriate, as exemplified in our
recent cases. We will also seek to hold parent companies accountable for
contraventions committed by their subsidiaries over which they exercise
decisive influence.
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HBEHKZESE Competition Commission

With respect to its policy advisory functions, the Commission continues to
liaise closely with Government departments and public bodies with the
aim of fostering a culture of factoring in competition considerations among
policy makers and sectoral regulators. As a result of the Commission’s efforts,
there has been a continuous increase in the awareness and capability of the
public sector in integrating competition principles into policy making.

In response to the challenges brought by the pandemic, the Commission has
issued two statements to remind participants in the Government’s subsidy
programmes under the Anti-epidemic Fund of the importance of complying
with the Ordinance and being vigilant against potential anti-competitive
practices that may undermine procurement processes. The Commission
also works closely with public bodies which are tasked to administer these
programmes to take competition concerns into consideration and provides
advice on collusion prevention so that public money being channelled
to alleviate the unusual hardship faced by the business sector will not be
exploited by cartelists.

As regards public advocacy, the Commission continues to actively engage
with a wide spectrum of audience via different initiatives delivered on
multiple platforms, with a strengthened use of social media. Notably, we
have rolled out an anti-price fixing advocacy campaign and an education
programme where tertiary students were given the opportunity to unleash
their creativity to promote competition law on social media. Another
signature event of the year was a webinar series tailored for lawyers with no
or limited competition law experience so that they would be better equipped
to advise their clients, in particular SMEs, on competition law matters.

It would be fair to say that the Commission has made great strides since
the Ordinance came into force in December 2015. These would not
have happened without the invaluable contribution of my predecessor
Ms. Anna Wu, the past and current Members of the Commission as
well as the professional and dedicated staff led by our Chief Executive
Officer Mr. Rasul Butt and our former Chief Executive Officer Mr.
Brent Snyder. | would also like to express my sincere gratitude to the
Commerce and Economic Development Bureau for its continuing
support. | am confident that as the Commission keeps accumulating its
experience and knowledge in combating anti-competitive practices,
it will continue to play an increasingly important role in safeguarding
and promoting the value of market competition in Hong Kong.

Samuel Chan Ka-yan
Chairman
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CEOQO’s Statement

The year of 2020/2021 saw the Competition Commission rapidly maturing
as a robust law enforcement agency amid adversity during the COVID-19
pandemic. In general, the Commission’s investigations and operations
have not been negatively impacted and it managed to achieve numerous
accomplishments in enforcement, as well as policy advisory and advocacy
work over the year.

The Commission has so far brought seven cases before the Competition
Tribunal, of which six were cartel cases covering the most egregious types
of anti-competitive conduct involving bid-rigging, price fixing and market
sharing. The focus on cartel conduct in these initial cases reflects the
Commission’s determination to pursue perpetrators of the most flagrant
contraventions of the law as well as those that pose the greatest threat to
Hong Kong's economy and people’s livelihood. The favourable judgments in
five of these cases already ruled by the Tribunal come as a warning to both
businesses and individuals that engaging in cartel conduct will be subject to
the Commission’s action and potentially result in serious consequences.

While disrupting hard core cartels will remain a priority, the Commission has
started to broaden its scope of enforcement and litigation to the Second
Conduct Rule that targets abuse of substantial market power. Our most
recent case before the Tribunal alleges that a leading multinational medical
gas supplier used its near-monopoly position in the supply of medical gases
and engaged in exclusionary acts against the other potential service provider
in the downstream medical gas pipeline system maintenance market. The
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HBEHKZESE Competition Commission

need to bring enforcement action in this case was particularly pronounced
given the fact that the blatant conduct seriously affected public hospitals
which provide close to 90% of hospital services to patients in Hong Kong.

On top of litigation cases, the Commission has also resolved and addressed
competition concerns through alternative modes of resolution provided
under the Competition Ordinance. These included issuing infringement
notices as well as accepting commitments in a number of cases which
involved exchange of commercially sensitive information in the information
technology sector, a contractual joint venture in the port terminal industry
as well as parity clauses and facilitation of a price-fixing cartel in the travel
sector. These enabled competition concerns of a less serious nature to be
addressed swiftly and proportionately.

In strengthening the Commission’s overall capability and effectiveness
in handling competition issues, the Commission signed a Memorandum
of Understanding with the Securities and Futures Commission and the
Philippine Competition Commission respectively during the year. Internally
the Commission has also been actively strengthening its investigative
capabilities by continued capacity and expertise building to cope with
investigations that are growing in number, variety and complexity.

While the Commission is building a solid pipeline of cases and setting
precedents with favourable judgments by the Tribunal, its policy and
advocacy work has also been moving ahead with a number of achievements
during the year.

On the policy front, the Commission continued to work closely with
government departments in identifying and addressing competition
concerns arising from new public policies, as well as to encourage the
integration of competition principles into the public policy-making process.
In addition to providing competition advice on dozens of public policies
and initiatives which concern Hong Kong'’s consumers and the business
environment, the Commission also took prompt actions both locally and
internationally in response to the COVID-19 outbreak.

During the year, the Commission issued relevant guidance and advice
to the local business community and public bodies which are tasked to
administer the Government’s anti-epidemic subsidy programmes with an
aim to safeguarding market competition and consumer welfare during this
critical period. Internationally, competition authorities exchanged their
views on how to tackle common enforcement challenges presented by
the pandemic. To this end, the Commission hosted two webinars, bringing
together competition enforcers and academics around the globe to discuss
a wide range of enforcement and policy issues arising from the pandemic.
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CEOQO’s Statement

As for advocacy, the Commission carried on its momentum to increase public
awareness of the Ordinance and to encourage compliance through a series
of outreach and engagement programmes on multiple platforms. Highlight
of the year was a multi-pronged thematic advocacy campaign featuring
an infotainment series packaged in movie trailer style to raise community
awareness and understanding of price fixing and its harm. The Commission
has also extensively reached out to the younger generation through creative
programmes leveraging on both innovative and conventional platforms.

Although in-person events were not feasible in the past year, the Commission
switched to using webinars and online engagement events which have
proved to be equally effective and even reaching a wider audience. One
of the major events of the year was targeted at local lawyers. While
competition lawyers are gaining more experience with precedents
established over the years, it was observed that there was a relative dearth of
competition law expertise and experience within the local legal community
outside a handful of international law firms. With that in mind, the
Commission has organised an online training series to equip lawyers who
are not competition law specialists to advise their clients on competition
matters. By strengthening the competition law expertise amongst the local
legal fraternity, we believe a lot of companies especially SMEs would be
better served as lawyers they are familiar with will be able to advise and help
them in complying with the Ordinance.

Looking back, it was a challenging year for the Commission and | am
proud to say that the Commission has fared considerably well. With the
accumulation of experience and knowledge, | am confident that we can
drive this momentum forward ensuring that competition is vibrant and fair
for the benefits of everyone in Hong Kong.

In closing, | would like to express my gratitude and appreciation to the
Chairman, Mr. Samuel Chan, founding Chairperson, Ms. Anna Wu, my
predecessor Mr. Brent Snyder as well as current and previous Commission
Members for their contribution and wise counsel over the years. | would
also like to register my deep appreciation for the continuing support of the

Commerce and Economic Development Bureau.

/,. A;///_J

Rasul Butt
Chief Executive Officer
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Highlights of the Year

ik
ENFORCEMENT
WZEI KRBT 555 Rk / B3 ¥ 10 REAREETT
L / BAE

Received and processed 555 enforcement contacts; 10 cases

were escalated to the Initial Assessment / Investigation
phases

BFEBBARTI-RORAEGPATEHZTHF I
FLPU R ZE 4 09 S 7R EL A 2 B (R HE R

Competition Tribunal ruled in favour of the Commission
in three cartel cases and handed down judgments on
pecuniary penalties and other sanctions in four cases

Bt T AT ARGEER - WEREATRFER
Enhanced the leniency programme for cartels and expanded
its coverage to individuals

BERER
ADVISORY
HEBIA 30 AR KA BIFBAT RALHIBRHNE
R 3ERBEEMERE R RN

Provided competition advice to the Government and public
bodies on over 30 public policies and initiatives with many
recommendations well received

HERFEE REERITHRE SN AEHRERE
G1E - MEEBhEE R AT G RIT R

ESEE
ADVOCACY
B9 T3 50 HTRMRAEE - BB es R

Conducted nearly 50 engagement events reaching different
sectors across the community

B "o B, EEAIELLE  BERKRERKE
SRR R T E
Rolled out the “Post to Compete” advocacy contest engaging

tertiary students to promote competition law on social
media

HBEHKZESE Competition Commission

MERAEREREERETSREAZHARRFIERE
£

Filed Hong Kong’s first abuse of substantial market power
case in the Competition Tribunal

A RIKERE - BEBEERENMBRITRNERES
o BHESEMNE RIETEGE
Issued infringement notices and accepted commitments

in cases involving the travel, port terminal and information
technology sectors

SRS RN EE R EE e RGFEERTFEEE
BERFEBTIX
Signed Memorandums of Understanding with Securities

and Futures Commission and Philippine Competition
Commission

FEREAT "hEnERES , BRI ERMIES IR
FEAERAAN T AZRE T CGRFEG))
Issued statements to remind applicants for subsidies under

the Government’s Anti-epidemic Fund of the importance of
competition law compliance

Worked closely with policy makers and public bodies tasked
to administer anti-epidemic subsidy programmes to mitigate
the likelihood of collusions and strengthen detection

RHZ UL RIS EEE - Bt G KRBHAMN T BEESE
EEREBE
Launched a multi-pronged advocacy campaign to raise

public awareness and understanding of price fixing and its
harm

BARB BRI AR AR R AR R R T —
R L5 - R FIERR AT EAYRE

Conducted a tailored online training series to strengthen
the capability of local lawyers who have limited or no
competition law experience
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Corporate Governance
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HBEHKZESE Competition Commission

The Commission is committed to high standards of corporate governance in
conducting its duties in the best interest of the public and its stakeholders. It
strives to enhance the effectiveness of the management of the organisation,
ensure its accountability to the public and transparency of its operations
through the disclosure of appropriate information on its operation and
governance. The Commission abides by the Ordinance which governs
many aspects of its operations and the supporting functional committees.
It also adopts appropriate principles and best practices including control
mechanisms, codes of conduct and corporate governance arrangements
that are applicable to public bodies.

APPOINTMENT OF CHAIRMAN AND MEMBERS TO THE
COMMISSION

The Chief Executive of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (HKSAR)
appointed Mr. Samuel Chan Ka-yan as the new Chairman of the Commission
for a term of two years from 1 May 2020. Mr. Chan succeeded Ms. Anna Wu
Hung-yuk, who stepped down after a seven-year chairmanship.

Four new Members were also appointed for the same term period, including
Professor Vincent Lau Kin-nang, Mr. Patrick Law Fu-yuen, Mr. Jimmy Ng Wing-
ka and Professor Anna Wong Wai-kwan.

Dr. Anthony William Seeto Yiu-wai, Professor Suen Wing-chuen and Mr.
Dennis Kwok Wing-hang stepped down as Members of the Commission on
30 April 2020.

COMMISSION MEMBERS (AS AT 31 MARCH 2021)

The Commission exercises the functions as provided in the Ordinance. It
oversees the work of the executive arm of the Commission and approves
all major decisions. As at the end of March 2021, the Commission has
14 Members including the Chairman, who were appointed by the Chief
Executive of the HKSAR for a period of two years. Commission Members are
drawn from different fields, including those who have relevant expertise and
experience in industry, commerce, economics, law, SMEs, accounting, finance
and consumer protection.
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CHAIRMAN

Mr. Samuel CHAN Ka-yan, BBS, JP
(Since 1 May 2020)

Mr. Samuel Chan is a practising barrister and has been
appointed to many advisory and statutory bodies. He
was former Vice-Chairman of the Consumer Council
and Member of the Equal Opportunities Commission,
and currently serves as Non-Executive Director of the
Insurance Authority and Deputy Chairman of the Town
Planning Appeal Board. He is a Fellow of the Chartered
Institute of Arbitrators and the Hong Kong Institute of
Arbitrators.

MEMBERS

Member, Chairperson of Enforcement
Committee

Ms. Sandy WONG Hang-yee, JP

Ms. Sandy Wong is a consultant at Liau, Ho & Chan, and
former consultant and Head of Legal of Maxim's Caterers
Limited.

Ms. Wong is the Past President of Hong Kong Federation
of Women Lawyers and current Chair of its Women'’s Rights
Committee, Anti-Human Trafficking Committee, Co-
Chair of Law Reform Committee and Charity Committee.
She is advisor to The Alumni Association of the School of
Law of the City University of Hong Kong and Institute of
Active Ageing of Hong Kong Polytechnic University. She
is a Director of Legal Education Trust. She is a member
of Town Planning Board, Hong Kong Advisory Council
on AIDS, Audit Committee of the West Kowloon Cultural
District Authority, the Chinese Medicine Practitioners
Board, Hong Kong Council on Smoking and Health,
a Council and Court member of Hong Kong Baptist
University, and Chairman of Human Organ Transplant
Board.
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HBEHKZESE Competition Commission

Member, Chairperson of Finance and
Administration Committee

Mr. Alan LUI Siu-lun

Mr. Alan Lui is now Chief Marketing Officer with Fusion
Bank. He is currently a member of the Hong Kong
Housing Authority, Trade and Industry Advisory Board
and Consumer Council. Mr. Lui is also a member of the
Standing Committee on Disciplined Services Salaries and
Conditions of Service.

Member, Chairperson of Staff Committee

Mr. Michael HUI Wah-kit, MH, JP

Mr. Michael Hui is the Managing Director of Freedom
Industrial Corporation Ltd. He is the Vice President of the
Hong Kong Chinese Importers’ and Exporters’ Association,
Chairman of the Small and Medium Enterprises Committee
of the Trade and Industry Department, the Import and
Export Industry Training Advisory Committee and Joint
Programme Advisory Committee of China Studies of
Hong Kong Baptist University. Mr. Hui was the Chairman
of the Hong Kong United Youth Association, Central Policy
Unit’s Part-time Member, Council member of the Hong
Kong Trade Development Council and Hong Kong Baptist
University. He was also a member of the Greater Pearl
River Delta Business Council, the West Kowloon Cultural
District Authority Consultation Panel, the Harbour Front
Enhancement Committee, the Hong Kong Export Credit
Insurance Corporation Advisory Board and the Programme
Management Committee of the Dedicated Fund on
Branding, Upgrading and Domestic Sales (BUD Fund).

Prof. K. C. CHAN, GBS, JP

Prof. K. C. Chan is Adjunct Professor and Senior Advisor
to the Dean at the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology (HKUST) Business School. He was appointed
as Secretary for Financial Services and the Treasury of the
Government of the HKSAR from July 2007 to June 2017.
Prior to that, he was Dean of Business and Management
in the HKUST. Before joining the HKUST Business School
in 1993, Prof. Chan had spent nine years teaching at Ohio
State University in the United States.

Prof. Chan received his bachelor’s degree in economics
from Wesleyan University and his M.B.A. and Ph.D. in
finance from the University of Chicago. He specialised in
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assets pricing, evaluation of trading strategies and market
efficiency and has published numerous articles on these
topics.

Prof. Chan held a number of public service positions
including Chairman of the Consumer Council, Director
of the Hong Kong Futures Exchange, and Member of the
Commission on Strategic Development, Commission on
Poverty, the Exchange Fund Advisory Committee, the
Hang Seng Index Advisory Committee, and the Hong
Kong Council for Academic Accreditation. He was former
President of the Asian Finance Association and President of
Association of Asia Pacific Business Schools.

Ms. Jennifer CHAN Pui-kwan

Ms. Jennifer Chan is Chairman of DT Capital Ltd. She also
holds advisory positions in various institutions. At present,
she is one of the General Committee members of the
Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce. Starting
from July 2020, Ms. Chan is also an Advisory Committee
Member of Enhancing Self-Reliance Through District
Partnership Programme (ESR). In addition, Ms. Chan is also
a Member of the Advisory Board of the Dutch Chamber of
Commerce from October 2020. She is currently a Member
of the Committee on Innovation, Technology & Re-
industrialisation of the Innovation and Technology Bureau.

As recognition of her achievements, Ms. Chan has received
numerous awards in the Mainland, Hong Kong and the
Netherlands, amongst which she was selected as one of
“China’s 100 Outstanding Female Entrepreneurs”in 2010.

Mr. Joe CHAU Kwok-ming, JP

Mr. Joe Chau is the Managing Director of Reer Garment
Manufactory Limited and Reer Asia Limited. He is the
Honourable Life President of the Hong Kong General
Chamber of Small and Medium Business, Chairman of
Small and Medium Enterprises (SME) Committee of the
Hong Kong Federation of Industries and a co-opted
member of its General Committee. He is also a member of
the SME committee of the Trade and Industry Department,
SMEs’ Manufacturing Partnership and Investment Task
Force of the Hong Kong Trade Development Council
(HKTDC) Belt and Road & Greater Bay Area Committee and
the Programme Management Committee of the Dedicated
Fund on Branding, Upgrading and Domestic Sales (BUD
Fund). Mr. Chau was the Vice-Chairman of the Import /
Export / Wholesale Trades Training Board of Vocational
Training Council and member of the HKTDC Garment
Advisory Committee.
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Z 88 Competition Commission

Ms. Rachel LAM Yan-kay, SC

Ms. Rachel Lam SC is a practising barrister, focusing on
insolvency matters, company and commercial litigation,
and securities law. She is qualified in three jurisdictions —
Hong Kong, England & Wales, and New York State - and
has practised in Hong Kong since 2005. She serves on
the Committee on Companies Law of the Hong Kong Bar
Association. She is also a contributing author on a number
of practitioner’s texts in company law and litigation.

In addition to her practice as a barrister, she is also a
member and part of the Executive Committee of Invenio
Foundation Limited, a charitable foundation whose
primary purpose is to support students in their education.

Prof. Vincent LAU Kin-nang
(Since 1 May 2020)

Prof. Vincent Lau joined the Department of Electronic and
Computer Engineering of the Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology in August 2004 and is currently a
Chair Professor. He has been the technology advisor and
consultant for a number of companies. He has worked
on various advanced wireless technologies, such as the
Long Term Evolution (4G LTE) and the 5G+ systems. He
had worked at Hong Kong Telecom and Bell Labs — Lucent
Technologies in the United States.

Prof. Lau obtained his bachelor’s degree in electrical
and electronic engineering from the University of Hong
Kong in 1992 and received his Ph.D. from the University
of Cambridge in 1997. He has published over 400 articles
in top international journals and conferences, and is the
author of three books on communication technologies.
He has contributed more than 50 US patents on wireless
communication systems. He is a Fellow of Institute of
Electrical and Electronics Engineers and the Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers, the Croucher Senior Research
Fellow and a Changjiang Chair Professor.

Prof. Lau is a member of Communications Authority
and the Chairperson of its Telecommunication Affairs
Committee. He is also a member of Innovation
Technology Fund Research Projects Assessment Panel
(Electronics Subgroup) of the Innovation and Technology
Fund administered by the Innovation and Technology
Commission.
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Mr. Patrick LAW Fu-yuen
(Since 1 May 2020)

Mr. Patrick Law is the Deputy Assurance Leader of Ernst
& Young (EY) Hong Kong and Macau. He joined EY Hong
Kong Assurance in 1993 and has been an assurance
partner of EY Hong Kong since 2003. He has over 27 years
of practical experience in assurance and business advisory
services, including assisting clients to seek listings in Hong
Kong. His major clients include listed companies located
in Hong Kong and the Mainland, mainly engaged in
retailing, consumer products manufacturing and property
development, as well as large state-owned enterprises.

Mr. Law has been actively involved in the development of
accounting profession. He is a Past President of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountant (HKICPA)
and currently serves as a member of its Governance
Committee. He was its President in 2019, and Vice-
President in 2017 and 2018. He was the Chairman of
Registration and Practising Committee, Nomination
Committee and Professional Conduct Committee of the
HKICPA.

Mr. Law is also active in public service. He is a member of
Process Review Panel for the Insurance Authority and the
Financial Reporting Council.

Mr. Roy NG Chun-tat

Mr. Roy Ng graduated from University of California,
Berkeley. He began his retail career in San Francisco
and has accumulated 30 years of retail management
experience. With his international background, Mr. Ng
has led multi-national retail groups and developed
brands covering international and Asia Pacific markets.
He was awarded the corporate governance award by the
Chief Secretary of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region. Other retail awards include: The Service for
Excellence Award for retail business achievement; The
Hong Kong Retail Management Association Customer
Service Award; The Best Turnaround Award for warehouse
and logistics operation improvement; The Best Customer
Service Award in the skincare and cosmetics industry.
At present, Mr. Ng's businesses encompass Retail,
Technology and Medicine.
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Z 88 Competition Commission

The Hon Jimmy NG Wing-ka, BBS, JP
(Since 1 May 2020)

Mr. Jimmy Ng is a solicitor admitted to practice in
Hong Kong and currently is a partner of Messrs. Tung,
Ng, Tse & Lam, Solicitors. He is a Legislative Council
member representing the Industrial (Second) Functional
Constituency. Mr. Ng is an Independent Non-Executive
Director of Yanchang Petroleum International Limited,
Glorious Sun Enterprises Limited and MTR Corporation
Limited. He is the Chairman of Hong Kong - Taiwan
Business Cooperation Committee and the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region Passports Appeal Board,
Vice President of Independent Police Complaints Council
and a Director of Hong Kong Science and Technology
Parks Corporation. He is also a member of the Court of the
University of Hong Kong, the Council of the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University and the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference of Chongqing City, the People’s
Republic of China.

Mr. Ng holds a Bachelor of Laws degree and a Post-
graduate Certificate in Laws from the University of Hong
Kong. He was appointed a Justice of the Peace in 2015
and awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star medal in 2019.

Prof. Anna WONG Wai-kwan
(Since 1 May 2020)

Prof. Anna Wong is a Professor of Practice in Finance
at the HKU Business School and the Program Director
of the Bachelor of Finance (Asset Management and
Private Banking) at the University of Hong Kong. She
teaches financial regulations, compliance and credit risk
management at the Faculty.

Prof. Anna Wong has an extensive experience in
banking and finance. She had worked in major financial
institutions including Citigroup, HSBC, Credit Suisse, BNP
Paribas and the Chase Manhattan Bank, covering private
banking, asset management, securities brokerage,
corporate banking, credit and risk management. She
was the Head of Private Bank, Greater China at Credit
Suisse and the CEO of HSBC Broking Services (Asia)
Limited.
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Prof. Anna Wong is a Non-Executive Director of the
Insurance Authority, an Independent Non-Executive
Director and Chairman of the Risk Committee of the
Bank of China International Limited. Her previous
appointments included member of the Advisory
Committee of the Securities and Futures Commission, a
temporary member of the Financial Reporting Council,
Director of the Hong Kong Securities and Investment
Institute and Director of the Hong Kong Securities
Association Limited.

Mr. Tony YUNG Kam-fai

Mr. Tony Yung is a biotechnology practitioner and
entrepreneur in Hong Kong. He received his biotechnology
education in the Chinese University of Hong Kong and
the Prince of Wales Hospital, specialising in genetics
and cancer research. He has extensive experience in
technology business investment, medical product
development and technology licensing in the Greater
China region. He was the General Manager of Xcelom, a
family care biotechnology company in the Hong Kong
Science Park. He was also the Co-founder and former CEO
of Sanomics, a cancer management company. Mr. Yung
has also served in GRAIL, Inc., a US-based biotechnology
company, as Managing Director of Asia Business and
Market Development. Mr. Yung is currently CEO of Take2
Health Ltd. He is also the Director of Oxford Venture Capital
(Greater China) Limited and Luxagain Technology Limited,
and a Fellow of the Hong Kong College of Health Service
Executives.
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HBEHKZESE Competition Commission

FUNCTIONAL COMMITTEES

Enforcement Committee

The Enforcement Committee (EC) exercises a number of functions in relation
to the investigation of conduct that may contravene the conduct rules in the
Ordinance and the applications for a Commission decision.

Membership list (as at 31 March 2021)

Ms. Sandy WONG Hang-yee, JP (Chairperson)
Mr. Samuel CHAN Ka-yan, BBS, JP

Prof. K. C. CHAN, GBS, JP

Ms. Jennifer CHAN Pui-kwan

Mr. Joe CHAU Kwok-ming, JP

Ms. Rachel LAM Yan-kay, SC

Prof. Vincent LAU Kin-nang

Mr. Roy NG Chun-tat

Prof. Anna WONG Wai-kwan

Finance and Administration Committee

The Finance and Administration Committee (FAC) formulates principles and
guidelines governing financial and administrative matters, including financial
management control, accounting procedures and general administration
management.

Membership list (as at 31 March 2021)

Mr. Alan LUI Siu-lun (Chairperson)
Mr. Joe CHAU Kwok-ming, JP

Mr. Patrick LAW Fu-yuen

Ms. Sandy WONG Hang-yee, JP

Staff Committee

The Staff Committee (SC) formulates principles and guidelines governing
human resources management matters, including recruiting staff to the

executive arm of the Commission and staff management.
Membership list (as at 31 March 2021)

Mr. Michael HUI Wah-kit, MH, JP (Chairperson)
Ms. Jennifer CHAN Pui-kwan

Mr. Roy NG Chun-tat

The Hon Jimmy NG Wing-ka, BBS, JP

Mr. Tony YUNG Kam-fai
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COMMISSION AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS

In the year under review, a total of 12 Commission meetings were convened.
The EC, FAC and SC convened 5, 3 and 2 meetings respectively. Attendance
records of Members are shown as follows:

Attendance Record of Competition Commission Meetings
April 2020 to March 2021 (12 meetings)

HERE
No. of times present

Mr. Samuel CHAN Ka-yan 12
Prof. K. C. CHAN 10
Ms. Jennifer CHAN Pui-kwan 12
Mr. Joe CHAU Kwok-ming 12
Mr. Michael HUI Wah-kit 9
Ms. Rachel LAM Yan-kay 5

Prof. Vincent LAU Kin-nang (since 1 May 2020) 6
Mr. Patrick LAW Fu-yuen (since 1 May 2020) 11
Mr. Alan LUI Siu-lun 3
Mr. Roy NG Chun-tat 10
The Hon Jimmy NG Wing-ka (since 1 May 2020) 9
Ms. Sandy WONG Hang-yee 10
Prof. Anna WONG Wai-kwan (since 1 May 2020) 11
Mr. Tony YUNG Kam-fai 9
Mr. KWOK Kwok-chuen (until 17 January 2021) 10
Dr. Anthony William SEETO Yiu-wai (until 30 April 2020) 1

Prof. SUEN Wing-chuen (until 30 April 2020) 1

Ms. Anna WU Hung-yuk (until 30 April 2020) 1

Attendance Record of Enforcement Committee Meetings
April 2020 to March 2021 (5 meetings)

HE R E

No. of times present
Ms. Sandy WONG Hang-yee 5
Mr. Samuel CHAN Ka-yan
Prof. K. C. CHAN
Mes. Jennifer CHAN Pui-kwan
Mr. Joe CHAU Kwok-ming
Mr. Roy NG Chun-tat
Prof. Vincent LAU Kin-nang (since 1 May 2020)
Ms. Rachel LAM Yan-kay
Prof. Anna WONG Wai-kwan (since 1 May 2020)
Mr. KWOK Kwok-chuen (until 17 January 2021)

w v W W,
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Attendance Record of Finance and Administration
Committee Meetings

April 2020 to March 2021 (3 meetings)

R
No. of times present
Mr. Alan LUI Siu-lun 3
Mr. Joe CHAU Kwok-ming 3
Mr. Patrick LAW Fu-yuen (since 1 May 2020) 3
Ms. Sandy WONG Hang-yee 3

Attendance Record of Staff Committee Meetings
April 2020 to March 2021 (2 meetings)
HERE
No. of times present

Mr. Michael HUI Wah-kit 2

Ms. Jennifer CHAN Pui-kwan 2

Mr. Roy NG Chun-tat (since 1 May 2020) 0
The Hon Jimmy NG Wing-ka (since 1 May 2020) 1

Mr. Tony YUNG Kam-fai 2

Mr. Samuel CHAN Ka-yan (until 30 April 2020) 1

Mr. Dennis KWOK Wing-hang (until 30 April 2020) 1
Prof. SUEN Wing-chuen (until 30 April 2020) 1

TRANSPARENCY TO THE COMMUNITY

The Commission considers transparency a foundation of good corporate
governance and has taken an open approach to disclosing information
about its operations. The Commission endeavours to maintain interactive
communication with the public and stakeholders by providing timely and
appropriate information through various channels including media briefings,
press releases, annual reports, formal announcements and the Commission’s

bilingual website (www.compcomm.hk).

The Commission’s website presents a comprehensive platform to provide
local and overseas visitors with first-hand information, including the
Ordinance and Guidelines, various policies and operational documents, press
releases and publications, consultation submissions and representations,
educational materials as well as other news and activities. Enforcement
updates such as current cases in the Competition Tribunal, status of
applications received and the Commission’s decisions are also available on its
website. Members of the public can sign up for email alerts to receive current
information on the Commission’s activities and developments.
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Corporate Governance

To handle the increasing number of enquiries and complaints from business
and the general public more effectively and efficiently, general enquiries
regarding the Ordinance and the Commission’s work as well as complaints
on local competition issues are streamlined by a contact centre with a
designated telephone hotline and an email account. A total of 592 general
enquiries were received during the year under review.

CONTROL MECHANISMS
Financial Control

As a statutory body supported by Government subvention, the Commission
adopts a stringent financial control system with reference to that of the
Government and other statutory bodies as well as non-governmental
organisations of similar nature to ensure the public money is being used
in accordance with the value for money principle. The Memorandum of
Administrative Arrangement signed between the Government and the

Commission also provides a governing framework for financial matters.
Budgetary Control

Before the start of a financial year, the Commission prepares the annual
budget on expenditures in conjunction with the business plan which sets
forth the objectives to be achieved and actions to be taken in the planning
year. The budget and business plan are reviewed and endorsed by the
FAC before submission to the Commission for approval. The estimates of
income and expenditure for the budget year will then be submitted to
the Government for approval. Procurement is made after confirmation of
availability of funds with reference to the approved expenditure budget.
Management reports outlining budget utilisation and analysing budget
variances are prepared regularly for the Commission’s review and decision

making.
Procurement and Expenditure Control

The Commission adopts stringent financial and procurement policies and
procedures of the Government with appropriate modifications to suit its
practical needs while leaving the underlying control principles intact. Clear
procedures, guidelines and approval authorities are set for the procurement
of different types and amounts of expenditure. Compliance check is
performed periodically to ensure the established procurement policies and
relevant procedures are being followed. Regular reports on expenditures
are prepared for on-going monitoring and resource management by the
executive team. To ensure proper scrutiny is exercised by the Commission,
a “Summary of Financial Position” is submitted to the FAC quarterly and the
Commission semi-annually.
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HBEHKZESE Competition Commission

Investment Control

The Commission follows guidelines approved by the Financial Secretary for
managing its investment of funds not immediately required. The objectives,
strategies, governance structure and policies and procedures on investment
of funds are clearly documented with periodic review and update. The
Commission maintains close monitoring of investment activities through
approving all investment proposals and reviewing the “Report on Investment
Activities” which is prepared on a half-yearly basis.

Internal Control

To safeguard assets and ensure compliance with the Ordinance and other
statutory requirements, the Commission needs an internal control system
which is efficient, effective and well-understood by Commission members
and staff. Appropriate checks and balances are incorporated in the rules,
policies and procedures on daily operating activities and regular compliance
check is performed to ensure the compliance of relevant policies by staff
members. Briefings, e-learning programmes, on-the-job training and regular
updates on rules and practices are provided to staff members to ensure they
understand their respective authorities, roles and responsibilities.

External Checks and Balances

The financial statements of the Commission are subject to audit by an
external auditor which is not engaged in any other non-audit services for the
Commission. A formal invitation for quotation and proposal for the audit was
conducted in 2019/2020. KPMG was appointed as the Commission’s external
auditor for auditing the financial statements for the three years ended 31
March 2020, 2021 and 2022.

CODE OF CONDUCT AND GUIDE ON CONDUCT

To safeguard the public interest and ensure accountability as well as to
uphold integrity and impartiality, the Commission has a Code of Conduct for
Commission / Committee Members and a Guide on Conduct (Guide) for staff
which set out, inter alia, the prohibition of solicitation, acceptance or offering
of advantages, the avoidance of conflict of interests through disclosure of
interests, and the duty to preserve confidentiality.
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Corporate Governance

With respect to Commission Members, the Commission maintains a register
of their declared interests including the pecuniary and personal interests in
respect of their directorships and shareholdings in companies, remunerated
employment, ownership of property or land, and memberships on boards of
organisations engaged in economic activities in or relevant to Hong Kong.
The register is available for public inspection on the Commission’s website
and at the office of the Commission. In addition to a mandatory update at
the beginning of the year, the register is updated from time to time based
on notifications by respective Members. In accordance with the procedural
requirements of the Ordinance and the Rule of Procedure of the Competition
Commission, when Members are asked to consider or decide on a specific
matter, they will conduct conflict checks for that matter in order to make
relevant disclosures and, where appropriate, abstain from voting or recuse
themselves from the discussion.

The Commission is committed to engaging, attracting and retaining a
high quality workforce with strong professional standards and integrity.
The Commission has a Guide for staff which aims to promote high ethical
standards and integrity in the discharge of duties. The Guide sets out the
fundamental principles of professional conduct and expected standard of
behaviour and reminds staff of their legal and contractual obligations to the
Commission. It also provides disciplinary rules and detailed guidelines on
various issues, such as the prevention of bribery and corruption, dealings
with suppliers / service providers, handling of offers of advantages, etc.

Staff are also required to make declarations of investment and outside work
on an annual basis and conduct conflict checks before they are involved in
enforcement matters. Where necessary, the Commission arranges with other
agencies to provide briefing sessions to staff on laws and regulations as well
as corporate governance concepts and practices that are relevant to how
they conduct themselves and the way they carry out their duties.
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ENFORCEMENT

Investigations

One of the key functions of the Commission is to enforce the Ordinance to
deter anti-competitive conduct by conducting investigations into possible
contraventions and adopting appropriate enforcement outcomes where
contraventions have been identified.

The Commission may initiate investigations following complaints and queries
from individuals or businesses. Any person can contact the Commission by
telephone, e-mail, posts, by completing an online form on the Commission’s
website or in person at the Commission’s office by appointment. Businesses
and individuals involved in cartel conduct can also approach the Commission

to apply for leniency.

The Commission may also initiate investigations based on information from
other sources, such as the Commission’s own research, market intelligence
gathered, other Commission’s processes and investigations or referrals from
other Government departments or authorities.

Between 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021, the Commission received
a total of 555 enforcement contacts', and the total number since full
commencement of the Ordinance in December 2015 to the end of March
2021 was 4,823 . The majority of these contacts were related to the First
Conduct Rule, with cartel conduct, resale price maintenance and exchange
of information being the major concerns. For the Second Conduct Rule, the
main issues raised were exclusive dealing as well as tying and bundling.

1. Out of the 555 enforcement contacts, 253 were complaints and 302 were enquiries.

2. Out of the 4,823 enforcement contacts, 1,960 were complaints and 2,863 were enquiries.
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Bx—: 85F/ B — #3iSiEXSFR| Figure 1: Enforcement Contacts - nature of alleged
ZiTRrHE’ conduct’

¥ER / T3 (2020E481HZE20215%E3831H) Enforcement Contacts (1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021): 555

BE— 1T A5RE First Conduct Rule EZ1TA5E Second Conduct Rule

AETA* Cartel Conduct® 149  BERIRHEEE  Tying and Bundling 17
JRICTEE(ERE Resale Price Maintenance 28 BERIXH Exclusive Dealing 35
TIRER Exchange of Information® 42  JEERXS Refusal to Deal 14
BRI S Exclusive Dealing 12 IFEEMTEE Predation 8
Hith Others 37 | Hfth Others 32
Hith Others

—MEERFIEMR General State of Competition 207  Ed77/5<FHI#ERH ° Not related to a Conduct Rule® 125

EANTE (IRERIER]Y ~ (GAEIEB|Y B (#;E  Assetoutin its Guideline on Complaints, Guideline on Investigations and
HE) st e e BiafNEIR S Er Enforcement Policy, the Commission considers all complaints and queries it
REEH TIREEE—FS T EMERIEAZE  receives and escalates those matters which warrant further assessment to an

55 SR PEES o Initial Assessment phase.

2020 4 A 1 HE 2021 &£ 3 A 31 HEAR - Between 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021, the Commission escalated 10

HEH 10 ZRAXTEAT IS IERE / ATk cases either to the Initial Assessment and/or Investigation phases for further

B EE—SHRE - investigation.

3. BFREIEIGRIEEL B ZE R s F T BAIEIE - 3. Each case may involve allegations of multiple types of anti-competitive conduct.

4. BERITAIEL KNS AEL I FREFEREZ B 4. Cartel conduct refers to agreements and concerted practices, among undertakings that are,
ReE RIS % LIKRMEIEREE - w5 R or otherwise would be if not for the cartel conduct, in competition with each other that seek
HEESEREZ LU  REISHES 5 FAH to fix prices, share markets, restrict output or rig bids, which have as their object preventing,
B2 EE S EIET S EEFNEBREN  GINE restricting or distorting competition in Hong Kong. This includes exchange of competitively
B IR B g ) (EAR B ST o sensitive information, such as an undertaking’s planned prices or planned pricing strategy.

5. TEREAERITANSIREN - 5. Information exchange not amounting to cartel conduct.

6. B (FRFAEMH]) BEALIIRER / BE 0 RIUTFIEERETE 6. The contact was unrelated to the Competition Ordinance and not an allegation of specific anti-
B ARREFTE - competitive conduct by an undertaking.
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Figure 2: Ongoing Initial Assessment and Investigation cases
- nature of alleged conduct’

Initial Assessment and Investigation cases (1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021)
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HBEHKZESE Competition Commission

E—1TAFE ey Sl Hits
Hith Second Others
First Conduct Rule: Conduct Rule
Others

In accordance with its Enforcement Policy, the Commission accords priority
to cases which involve one or more of the following types of conduct: cartels,
other agreements contravening the First Conduct Rule causing significant
harm to competition in Hong Kong, and abuses of substantial market power
involving exclusionary behaviour by incumbents.

The Commission has carefully considered all cases with an aim to focusing
on enforcement actions against contraventions causing significant harm to

competition in Hong Kong having regard to its available resources.

As set out in Figure 3, these Initial Assessment and Investigation cases
involve a variety of sectors across the Hong Kong economy.

7. Each case may involve allegations of multiple types of anti-competitive conduct.
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Figure 3: Sectors involved in Ongoing Initial Assessment
and Investigation cases (1 April 2020 to 31 March
2021)°
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8. BREAFIrIFEL RZETTE -

Where the Commission has reasonable cause to suspect a contravention of a
conduct rule, it will proceed to the Investigation Phase in which it may gather
evidence using its compulsory information gathering powers under Part 3 of
the Ordinance.

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Commission has adapted its
investigative methods to ensure the health protection of its staff and
individuals involved in its investigations, while ensuring steady progress

across its enforcement matters.

Between 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021, the Commission made substantial
use of its compulsory powers on document and information gathering
where necessary to require relevant parties to provide documents and
information and/or to give evidence before the Commission pursuant to
Sections 41 and 42 of the Ordinance.

8. Each case may involve multiple industry sectors.
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Filing of Hong Kong's first abuse of substantial market power
case

Competition Commission v. Linde HKO Ltd and Others (CTEA 3/2020)

On 21 December 2020, the Commission brought its first enforcement action
concerning an alleged contravention of the Second Conduct Rule before the
Tribunal. The Commission claims that Linde HKO Ltd abused its substantial
degree of market power in the upstream market for the supply of certain
medical gases in Hong Kong by disrupting normal supply of such gases
to MGI (Far East) Ltd, a medical gas pipeline system maintenance service
provider which competes directly with Linde HKO Ltd in the downstream
maintenance services market.

In addition to Linde HKO Ltd, its Healthcare Sales General Manager is
named as a co-respondent in the proceedings as a person involved in
the contravention. Linde HKO Ltd’s ultimate parent company in Germany,
Linde GmbH, is also named as a co-respondent on the basis that it formed
part of the same undertaking as Linde HKO Ltd.

Tribunal judgments on liability and/or sanctions and related
appeals

Overview

In May 2019, the Tribunal handed down its judgments on liability in the first
two sets of cartel proceedings in Hong Kong (CTEA 1/2017 and CTEA 2/2017),
finding 14 of the 15 respondents in the two cases liable of contravening
the First Conduct Rule. In April 2020, the Tribunal subsequently decided on
the pecuniary penalties to be imposed on the respondents in CTEA 2/2017.
In doing so, it laid down the approach for the determination of pecuniary
penalties for undertakings, which was then applied in a number of later

cases.

Over the course of the year under review, the Tribunal found that the
Commission had established contraventions in three other cartel cases
(CTEA 1/2018, CTEA 1/2019 and CTEA 1/2020). The Commission managed
to conclude certain parts of those proceedings on a consent basis,
following the Tribunal’s endorsement of a settlement procedure in order to
dispense with a full trial of all factual issues, thus saving time and costs for
all parties involved.
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Competition Commission v. W. Hing Construction Company Limited and
Others (CTEA 2/2017)

In its judgment of 17 May 2019, the Tribunal found all 10 respondents liable
of contravening the First Conduct Rule by engaging in market sharing and
price fixing in their provision of renovation services at Phase 1 of the public
rental housing On Tat Estate. Following this, the Tribunal handed down
its judgment on the respondents’ pecuniary penalties on 29 April 2020,
ordering the respondents to pay a total of HK$3.97 million of fines. It is worth
noting that 7 out of the 10 respondents in this case were ordered to pay the
maximum pecuniary penalty’ allowable under the Ordinance and that all of
the respondents have also been ordered to pay the Commission’s legal costs.

The Commission is currently appealing against the Tribunal’s application
of a one-third discount to the pecuniary penalties of certain respondents,
which was applied on the basis that those respondents had subcontracted

the renovation works to third parties.10

Competition Commission v. Nutanix Hong Kong Limited and Others
(CTEA 1/2017)

On 17 May 2019, the Tribunal handed down its judgment finding four
respondent information technology (IT) companies to have contravened the
First Conduct Rule by engaging in bid-rigging in a tender for the supply and
installation of a new IT system for the Hong Kong Young Women'’s Church
Christian Association. On 16 December 2020, the Tribunal handed down its
judgment on sanctions ordering the respondents to pay pecuniary penalties
totalling HK$7.16 million and legal costs of over HK$8.6 million.

Competition Commission v. Kam Kwong Engineering Company Limited
and Others (CTEA 1/2018)

Similar to CTEA 2/2017, this case concerns a market sharing and
price fixing cartel in relation to the provision of renovation services
at the subsidised housing estate King Tai Court. On 6 September
2018, the Commission commenced enforcement proceedings in the
Tribunal against 3 contractors for contravening the First Conduct
Rule and 2 individuals for their involvement in the contravention.
Following the Tribunal’s 17 May 2019 judgment in CTEA 2/2017, 3
respondents agreed to admit their liabilities and jointly applied with the
Commission for the Tribunal’s approval to dispose of the proceedings

9. The maximum pecuniary penalty of a contravention of the Ordinance is 10% of the
undertaking’s annual Hong Kong turnover per contravention for a maximum period of three
years.

10. An earlier appeal by one of the respondents against its liability finding has already been
dismissed by the Court of Appeal.
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HBEHKZESE Competition Commission

against them by consent, on the basis of statements of agreed facts. This
approach was endorsed by the Tribunal and is referred to as the “Kam Kwong
procedure”. The remaining 2 respondents followed suit, and by September
2020, the liabilities of all 5 respondents had been resolved by way of the
same procedure.

The Commission subsequently made submissions as to the pecuniary
penalties to be imposed on the respondents, as well as on a director
disqualification order against one of the individual respondents. At the
time of writing, the Tribunal’s judgment on sanctions is still pending.

Competition Commission v. Fungs E & M Engineering Company Limited
and Others (CTEA 1/2019)

On 3 July 2019, the Commission commenced enforcement proceedings in
the Tribunal against 6 renovation contractors and 3 individuals for market
sharing and price fixing cartel conduct in relation to the provision of
renovation services at the public housing estate, Phase 1 of On Tai Estate.
The Commission sought remedies including declarations of contravention
of the First Conduct Rule and involvement in the contravention, pecuniary
penalties, and, in respect of one individual, a director disqualification order.
All of the respondents agreed with the Commission to dispose of the liability
portion of the proceedings by way of the Kam Kwong procedure. On 14
October 2020, the Tribunal issued a judgment making the declarations
sought based on parties’ statements of agreed facts. It then decided the
sanctions on each of the respondent in judgments dated 30 October 2020
and 5 January 2021. The Tribunal ordered the 6 contractors and 2 individuals
to pay pecuniary penalties of HK$3.26 million, while the final individual was
given a 22-month disqualification order.

In calculating the contractors’ pecuniary penalties, the Tribunal again
applied the one-third discount to 2 of the respondents on the ground of
subcontracting as per the W. Hing case (CTEA 2/2017). The Commission is
currently also appealing against the discount in this case.

Competition Commission v. Quantr Limited and Cheung Man Kit (CTEA
1/2020)

On 22 January 2020, the Commission commenced enforcement proceedings
in the Tribunal against Quantr Limited and its director for exchanging
competitively sensitive information with a co-bidder regarding their
intended quotations in a bidding exercise for the procurement of IT services
organised by the Ocean Park Corporation. The respondents subsequently
agreed to make joint applications to the Tribunal with the Commission
pursuant to the Kam Kwong procedure, in which they admitted contravening
the First Conduct Rule or being involved in the contravention. The Tribunal
handed down its judgment on sanctions on 3 November 2020 ordering
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Quantr to pay a pecuniary penalty of HK$37,702.76 and the Commission’s
legal costs, as well as to adopt certain competition compliance measures
for a period of 3 years. The Tribunal gave the orders sought by the parties
within 10 months from case filing, making this the fastest case resolved''
by way of settlement. The case also represents the first set of enforcement
proceedings that was started by a leniency application, and the first case in
which behavioural remedies were agreed as part of the settlement package
and endorsed by the Tribunal.

An infringement notice was issued to another company that participated in
the same cartel, which has agreed to adopt certain competition compliance
measures for a period of 2 years.

The other ongoing case before the Tribunal

In addition to CTEA 1/2018 and CTEA 3/2020 mentioned above, there is
another ongoing case before the Tribunal.

Competition Commission v. T.H. Lee Book Company Limited and Others
(CTEA 2/2020)

On 20 March 2020, the Commission commenced enforcement proceedings
in the Tribunal against three textbook suppliers and one individual.
The Commission claims that the three companies have contravened
the First Conduct Rule by engaging in price-fixing, market sharing and/
or bid-rigging in relation to the sale of textbooks to students attending
primary and secondary schools in Hong Kong. Although the cartel
arrangements were arrived at prior to the full implementation of the
Ordinance, the companies are said to have continued to give effect to
them after the Ordinance came into effect. This is also the first case in
which the Commission has sought to hold a parent company liable for the
acts of a subsidiary over which the parent is claimed to have exercised
decisive control. Declarations of contravention, orders for pecuniary
penalties and a director disqualification are sought by the Commission.

In an interlocutory decision dated 31 December 2020, the Tribunal declined
certain respondents’ application to have sequential exchange of witness
statements on the basis of the criminal nature of the pecuniary penalties
sought. As a result, the exchange of witness statements was directed to
take place simultaneously for all parties as in civil proceedings. A case
management hearing is scheduled for 13 October 2021.

11. The proceedings (including the Commission’s original application for a pecuniary penalty and
a director disqualification order against the individual respondent) were stayed pending the
respondents’ completion of the agreed settlement terms. In the event of non-compliance, the
Commission would be entitled to restore the proceedings.
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Acceptance of Commitments from online travel agents

On 13 May 2020, the Commission accepted commitments offered by
3 major online travel agents, namely Booking.com, Expedia (including
Hotels.com) and Trip.com (including Ctrip.com), which resulted in a
complete abandonment of any wide parity clauses in their contracts with
accommodation providers in Hong Kong that may harm competition. These
clauses required accommodation providers to always give the online travel
agent the same or better terms as those they offer in all other sales channels,
as regards room prices, room conditions and / or room availability. This case
represents the first time the Commission has accepted commitments under
section 60 of the Ordinance. The acceptance followed a public consultation
on the proposed commitments in late March / April 2020.

Acceptance of Commitments from “Hong Kong Seaport
Alliance”

The Hong Kong Seaport Alliance is a contractual joint venture between
Hong Kong's 4 (out of 5) major terminal operators12 to jointly operate
and manage their 23 berths across 8 terminals at Kwai Tsing port. On 30
October 2020, the Commission concluded its investigation into the Hong
Kong Seaport Alliance by accepting a set of commitments from the parties
to the Alliance, which addressed the Commission’s competition concerns
in an effective and timely manner. Major items in the commitments include
caps on certain charges for up to 8 consecutive years, maintenance of
certain service levels and restrictions on cross-directorships (both of which
apply for the entire duration of the Alliance), an indexation mechanism, as
well as a rigorous compliance monitoring regime. The acceptance followed
a public consultation in August 2020.

Issuance of infringement notices to hotel groups and tour
counter operator

On 17 February 2021, the Commission issued infringement notices to 6 hotel

groups13 ,and a tour counter operatorm, for facilitating a cartel between
2 competing travel service providers to fix the prices of tourist attractions

12. Modern Terminals Limited and HPHT Limited on behalf of Hongkong International Terminals
Limited, COSCO-HIT Terminals (Hong Kong) Limited, and Asia Container Terminals Limited.

13. China Asia Property Limited, owner and operator of City Garden Hotel; Harilela Hotels Limited,
owner of Holiday Inn Golden Mile; Holiday Inns Crowne Plaza (Hong Kong) Inc., operator of
Holiday Inn Golden Mile; Hotel Panorama Company Limited, owner and operator of the former
Hotel Panorama; The Hongkong Hotel Limited, The Marco Polo Hotel (Hong Kong) Limited,
The Prince Hotel Limited and Wharf Hotels Management Limited, owners and operator of the
Marco Polo Hongkong Hotel, Marco Polo Gateway and Marco Polo Prince respectively; and
Royal Plaza Hotel Management Limited, Leverson Limited and Royal Park Hotel Management
Limited, operators of Royal Plaza Hotel, Royal View Hotel and Royal Park Hotel respectively.

14. Imperial Tours Limited inside the premises of Holiday Inn Golden Mile.
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and transportation tickets sold at some hotels in Hong Kong. This case
represents the first time the Commission pursues facilitators of cartel
conduct, sending a clear signal that those who facilitate the reaching or
implementation of cartel arrangements among competitors will also be held
liable under the Ordinance.

Publication of policies

In April 2020, the Commission published a revised Leniency Policy for
Undertakings Engaged in Cartel Conduct and a new Leniency Policy for
Individuals Involved in Cartel Conduct. Based on its experience accumulated
since the Ordinance came into full effect, the Commission reviewed and
revised its leniency framework with a view to strengthening its efficacy and
comprehensiveness, providing stronger and clearer incentives for a cartel
member to stop the cartel conduct and report it to the Commission, thereby

strengthening enforcement and furthering victim recovery.

In June 2020, the Commission published a Policy on Recommended
Pecuniary Penalties for anti-competitive conduct, providing transparency
on the methodology it uses when making fine recommendations to the
Tribunal against businesses that have contravened, or have been involved
in the contravention of the First Conduct Rule or the Second Conduct Rule
of the Ordinance.

Together with the Commission’s other policy documents, the revised
leniency programme and the policy on pecuniary penalties form a
comprehensive framework for businesses engaged in cartels to assess the
benefits of coming forward and cooperating with the Commission, thus
strengthening enforcement and enhancing deterrence.

Inter-agency cooperation

In April 2020, the Commission signed a Memorandum of Understanding
(MoU) with the Securities and Futures Commission to enhance cooperation
and the exchange of information between the two agencies, particularly
on competition issues relating to the securities and futures industry. The
MoU also establishes a platform for the two agencies to engage in technical
cooperation, such as staff training and secondments. This MoU is part of
the Commission’s endeavour to adopt a joined-up approach with relevant
sector regulators in promoting competition and combating anti-competitive
practices in Hong Kong.
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In December 2020, the Commission signed a MoU with the Philippine
Competition Commission to strengthen cooperation between the
two agencies on competition issues of mutual concern. The MoU also
provides a framework for both agencies to engage in other forms of
technical cooperation, such as staff training and research collaborations,
thus enhancing the Commission’s overall capability and effectiveness in

addressing competition issues.

CDEMEGRM 2020 F 12 AEFERE
HFEREERBMS
The Commission signed a MoU
with the Philippine Competition
Commission in December 2020.

COMMUNICATIONS AUTHORITY - COOPERATION AND
LIAISON

Under the Ordinance, the Commission and the Communications
Authority (CA) have concurrent jurisdiction in the broadcasting and
telecommunications sectors. Given the CA’s specific function of regulating
the broadcasting and telecommunications sectors, the CA will ordinarily
take the role of Lead Authority on matters which fall within the concurrent
jurisdiction. Between 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021, the Commission
referred a total of 10 complaints and enquiries to the CA.

LIAISON WITH OTHER GOVERNMENT DEPARTMENTS

In addition to complaints and enquiries from the public, the Commission
also follows up on referrals from Government departments and other
authorities. During the year, the Commission liaised with different
Government departments and statutory bodies and fellow law enforcement
agencies. These include the Fire Services Department, Home Affairs
Department, Hong Kong Housing Authority, Hong Kong Police Force, Hong
Kong Productivity Council, Independent Commission Against Corruption,
Innovation and Technology Commission, Property Management Services
Authority, Securities and Futures Commission as well as Urban Renewal
Authority. The communication has not only facilitated the Commission
in carrying out its investigative work in a more efficient manner, but also
in enhancing understanding of the Ordinance by the public sector. In
various investigations and legal proceedings, different Government
departments and public bodies have provided assistance to the Commission
in information and intelligence gathering.
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POLICY ADVISORY AND PUBLIC SECTOR ENGAGEMENT

During the year, the Commission provided competition-related advice on
more than 30 public policies and initiatives, of which many involved complex
policy design and implementation. Such policies and measures are closely
related to the city’s business environment and the daily lives of Hong Kong
citizens, such as promotion of electric vehicles, waste paper recycling,
procurement of smart water dispensers, the “Decoration Contractor System”
of the Hong Kong Housing Authority and tenancy control on subdivided
housing units. In view of the recent implementation of the Property
Management Industry Licensing Regime, the Commission reached out to the
Property Management Service Authority (PMSA) and offered competition-
related advice in relation to PMSA's issuing of guidance documents for

industry players.

In response to the pandemic, the Commission issued two statements in
May and August 2020 to remind participants in the Government’s subsidy
programmes under the Anti-epidemic Fund of the importance of complying
with the Ordinance and being vigilant against potential anti-competitive
practices that may undermine procurement processes. The Commission
also worked closely with public bodies which are tasked to administer these
programmes to take competition concerns into consideration and provided
advice on collusion prevention.

In addition to advising on specific policies and measures, the Commission
proactively engaged with policy makers and regulators to enhance their
understanding of how competition issues may arise. This encompasses
advising on the possible competition impact of existing regulations as
well as new market developments that may warrant government actions
to promote competition. It is worth noting that with the Commission’s
continuous engagement efforts, policy bureaux and departments have
started to approach and consult the Commission at an early stage of policy
formulation process. They have also demonstrated increased awareness and
better understanding of competition impact assessment. The Commission’s
advice on competition matters has been clearly reflected throughout the
policy discussions and has been received positively.
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COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND EDUCATION

The Commission believes that prevention is always better than cure,
so it is important for the Hong Kong community to understand the key
elements of the Ordinance and the importance of compliance. Despite the
challenges brought by the pandemic, the Commission has not stopped
reaching out to the community through direct engagement, educational
initiatives and special projects across multiple platforms targeting different
stakeholders. While physical events were limited in the past year, the
Commission switched to using webinars and online engagement which

have proved to be equally effective and even reaching a wider audience.

Businesses

During the year, the Commission conducted 8 webinars targeting businesses
in particular SMEs, trade associations and the public. Among them, one
was exclusively for the IT sector while three were conducted as part of
the Commission’s anti-price fixing advocacy campaign targeting different
sectors. Response to these webinars was overwhelming with over 1,800
participants showing great interest in the topic and raising questions on

various issues.

In addition, the Commission continued to work closely with trade and
industry associations through numerous online briefings and meetings
conducted throughout the year to assist and encourage their members to
comply with the Ordinance.

During the year, the Commission conducted webinars targeting businesses and the public.

HBEHKZESE Competition Commission
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Lawyers

To facilitate the development of competition law expertise amongst the
local legal fraternity, the Commission conducted a webinar series in October
2020 for lawyers with limited or no competition law experience so that
they would be better equipped to advise their clients, in particular SME
clients, on competition law matters. Delivered by staff and executives from
the Commission, as well as competition lawyers in private practice, the
training not only covered key provisions of the Ordinance, but also practical
application of the law including how to help clients ensure compliance
and respond appropriately to an investigation. Over 170 legal practitioners
joined the training with many thoughtful questions posed and discussed
throughout the sessions.

Youths

Engaging the younger generation remains to be an important part of
the Commission’s advocacy work. To further its youth outreach, the
Commission rolled out the second edition of the “Post to Compete” Social
Media Advocacy Challenge in November 2020, inviting all tertiary students
to compete by designing and executing plans to promote competition
law on social media platforms. Over 180 teams of students from different
universities signed up for the Challenge with 15 finalist teams competing
for the championship.
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To promote public understanding of the core values and rationale behind
competition law, a video series “Competition 101" presented by Professor
Fong Yuk Fai of HKU Business School was rolled out in March 2021 on the
Commission’s website and social media platforms. Comprising four short
episodes, the series explains the key concepts of market competition in a
light-hearted and easy-to-understand manner. In tandem with the launch of
the series, a Facebook game and an online quiz targeting upper secondary
students were rolled out to familiarise the youths with the economic
concepts of competition. .
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A video series “Competition 101" was rolled out to promote public understanding of the core values and rationale behind competition law.
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HBEHKZESE Competition Commission

In collaboration with the Faculty of Law of the Chinese University of Hong
Kong, the Commission conducted an essay contest to engage tertiary-level
law students and encouraged them to develop a deeper understanding of
competition law. More than a hundred entries were received and 4 winning
essays were chosen for the inaugural Competition Commission Outstanding
Essay Award.

Despite school suspension during the pandemic, the Commission continued
to deliver online interactive workshops and guest lectures for secondary
schools and universities during the year as an ongoing effort in reaching out
to youngsters.

General Public and Other Stakeholders

During the year, the Commission continued its district outreach, especially
on fighting bid-rigging, by speaking at briefings on building renovation
and management organised by the Home Affairs Department, the Hong
Kong Institute of Housing and Urban Renewal Authority, targeting property
owners and building management personnel across different districts in
Hong Kong. Invited by the Hong Kong Housing Authority, briefings were
delivered to decoration contractors prior to the intake of tenants at each new
public housing estate.
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BEEEREANHERT =H (SEF(0H) @ &M To keep relevant organisations, businesses and stakeholders abreast of its
BIHELHE - BRARBRHEMIFMEBMEREZENRET latest activities and development, the Commission published 3 issues of its
FEE o newsletter “Competition Matters” during the period.

EEABRMNENEHF (B8 2021F3A318)

Engagement Facts and Figures (As at 31 March 2021)

B177 12T
S5 %’35 300°
7 briefings / meetings
BEREE 1 g X (8FEP/ND) - AERBINE
3% BMGHEE / Tt A
e e representatives of major chambers, industry associations,
businesses including SMEs, public sector, students and members
81: KB R8N of the public reached.*
73] major webinars

= # LR
] 1 wemus

online training series

* B EIEEEE R LTEINRINE - *  The figure includes participants of both physical and online events.

U BEEFENHET S f@@-‘]’-%ﬁﬂx&rﬂ‘fﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ  BREREETRYEEIEAS -
The Commission spoke at briefings on building management and renovation targeting property owners and building management personnel across different
districts during the year.

(BIRES(E MEDIA AND PUBLICITY

MEFER > BECHlN T REFANEES Throughout the year under review, the Commission developed various
o IEEFEELS Mt gRTIEEESE initiatives and leveraged on different platforms in spreading pro-competition

HEEHE o Bk ERE SRS AEARE  messages across the community. The Commission also endeavoured to
{HIE(RIFRBER - MR EEsE e maintain effective and bilateral communications with the public and the
ENSRHEE - mass media in providing updates on its development.
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HBEHKZESE Competition Commission

“Combat Price Fixing Cartels” Campaign

The Commission launched a multi-pronged thematic campaign in November
2020 to enhance public awareness and understanding of price fixing and its
harm as well as to encourage compliance and strengthen detection of such
conduct.

Educational materials

To grasp audience’s attention and explain the abstract concept of price
fixing in an easy to understand manner, the Commission rolled out a TV
announcement and 5 infotainment ads centering around the theme “It's My
Call - Prosper with Competition, Say No to Price Fixing” Packaged in a movie
trailer style, the series used “breakups from toxic romantic relationships”
as an analogy to encourage businesses to end their illegal “price fixing
relationships” with their competitors. The ads viralled on social media
recording over 3.6 million views and 10,000 likes. To deepen understanding
of the topic, the Commission also published a brochure outlining different
types of price fixing with tips on how to identify it and what to do should it
be suspected.

8.80.0.80.80 8.0
ISy

Targeted seminars

Three thematic webinars on price fixing were held between December
2020 and March 2021 for different groups of audience. The first webinar
was supported by 6 major chambers of commerce and trade associations
targeting businesses across sectors, while the second and the third webinars
were exclusively for procurement practitioners and the retail industry
respectively.
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Outdoor and online promotions

To maximise the impact and get the message across the general public,
the campaign was supported by extensive outdoor and online promotions
including advertising at MTR stations, commercial building lift lobbies as well
as on mobile applications.

Website & Social Media

The Commission’s website is regularly updated with latest news on its work,
details of seminars / webinars and events as well as various publications
and educational materials. Recording over 4 million hits throughout the
year, the website is an important interface between the Commission and its
stakeholders.

To expand its online engagement, the Commission strengthened the use
of social media during the year with around 160 feeds about competition
law and the Commission’s work posted on its Facebook Page, Instagram
and LinkedIn accounts. The Commission’s YouTube channel is also regularly
updated with its educational videos and announcements.

Media Engagement

During the year, the Commission held two media events, issued 20 press
releases and participated in 11 press interviews to keep local and international
media abreast of its latest development. These efforts generated extensive
coverage and publicity for both the Commission and the Ordinance.

HEEACAR
COMPETITION
COMMISSION

The Commission kept local and international media abreast of its latest development during the year.
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Awards & Recognition

The Commission has won 5 awards and recognition for its outreach and

publicity initiatives during 2020/2021.

(2 - BECER)
HEHERRY

“It's My Call”
Infotainment Series

TTRSIRER.
EEEE
“Combat Price Fixing
Cartels” Campaign

FH

Annual Report

B 7348k
Official Website

Questar Awards 2021
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Questar Awards 2021

Silver in the category of “Non-Profit Organisations:
Public Awareness”

Communicator Awards 2021

FE(EEE) — IFEFIHER L K]

Communicator Awards 2021

Winner in the category of “Campaign — Non-Profit”

2020 EREEERHEREFRE

BH /N EULIBFERE

2020 Hong Kong Management Association Best
Annual Reports Awards

Excellence Award for “Small Size Entries”

2019/2020 Vision Awards FEFRAE

FEUSHER 88

2Bk 100 P RIEFR

2019/2020 Vision Awards Annual Report Competition

Gold in the category of “Government”
Top 100 Reports Worldwide

2020-2021 HEERHEE ZTATEI = E S8R
Web Accessibility Recognition Scheme 2020-2021
Triple Gold

IJ
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HBEHKZESE Competition Commission

Questar Awards 2021

EB B B K BEMERR
Academy of Interactive & Visual Arts

EEEEERENE

Hong Kong Management Association

EEPERIEE 3 L
League of American Communications
Professionals

BUS BB R A E RE B L
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Office of the Government Chief
Information Officer and Hong Kong
Internet Registration Corporation Ltd.
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INTERNATIONAL AND MAINLAND LIAISON

Challenges presented by the pandemic did not stop the Commission from
strengthening cooperation and collaboration with Mainland and overseas
counterparts as well as competition experts around the world. To foster
experience sharing among different jurisdictions in response to COVID-19,

the Commission hosted two webinars during the year.

In April 2020, the Commission convened a webinar bringing together dozens
of competition law enforcers, academics and experts around the world
to discuss a wide range of enforcement and policy issues arising from the
pandemic. In September 2020, the Commission and the Faculty of Law of
the Chinese University of Hong Kong co-hosted a webinar on “Competition
in Aviation after COVID-19” where leading experts and officials from
competition and aviation authorities in the Mainland, Malaysia, Singapore
and the UK shared their insights. Both webinars received immense support
by participants from dozens of jurisdictions and international organisations.
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To foster experience sharing among different jurisdictions on the response to COVID-19, the Commission hosted two webinars during the year.
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In its third year as co-chair of the Advocacy Working Group of the International
Competition Network (ICN), the Commission continued to work towards
the mission of improving the effectiveness of ICN members’ advocacy
activities, enhancing the adoption of competition principles and practices
in government administration and promoting a competition culture within
the society. Last year, the Commission co-organised a plenary discussion on
“Competition Advocacy in the Digital Age” for the 2020 ICN Virtual Annual
Conference in September. In February 2021, the Commission organised a
webinar on fostering a culture of competition compliance. Officials from
competition authorities of Hong Kong, Japan, the UK and the US as well as in-
house counsels from multinational companies shared their experiences and
expertise in promoting compliance among businesses.
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HBEHKZESE Competition Commission

During the year, the Commission remained in close contact with its
Mainland counterparts. The Commission continued to liaise with the State
Administration for Market Regulation on a number of advocacy and policy
matters of mutual interest. The Commission also engaged in dialogue
with the Guangdong Administration for Market Regulation with a view
to promoting the awareness of and the compliance with competition
principles in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area.

CAPACITY BUILDING

Staff Force

During the year, the Commission continued to recruit, develop and
maintain a highly professional workforce to support its core functions
and respond flexibly to changing work priorities. Despite the challenges
of recruitment during the pandemic, a number of new recruits including
experienced competition law enforcers from well-established overseas
agencies and litigation professionals joined the Commission to strengthen
its enforcement capability. Besides, a range of online professional trainings
were provided to staff on various functional areas such as international
competition law, competition policy, investigation skills and IT forensic
analysis to keep them abreast of the latest knowledge and expertise in the
international competition law arena. As at March 2021, the Commission
had 64 staff members.

Apart from regular staff headcounts, the Commission also took part in the
Job Creation Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund of the Government and
created 5 additional short-term posts to meet its operational needs.

As a caring employer, the Commission is dedicated to improving the well-
being of staff members. During the year, it continued to introduce and
promote employment-friendly measures such as flexible working hours,
work from home arrangements as well as breastfeeding and marriage
leave policies. To help staff members achieve a better work-life balance and
mental health, a specialist consultant was engaged to provide a tailor-made
Employees Assistance Programme with free professional counselling and
advisory services for staff and their family members.

During the year, the Commission has received recognition from the Equal
Opportunities Commission as an Equal Opportunity Employer (Family
Status Equality) for its family-friendly policies.
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Information Technology

To facilitate handling of the growing volume of enforcement activities,
a state-of-the-art Document Management System with registry and
e-discovery functions has been implemented. The system strengthens
the Commission’s capability to carry out its functions efficiently and
to the highest standard of confidentiality and security. In addition,
the Commission has enhanced its disaster recovery site to boost the
performance and reliability in IT system recovery from events that
negatively affect its operations.

On the other hand, the Commission continues to strengthen the corporate
governance of confidential information. It has launched a Secure File Sharing
System to manage confidential document sharing with external parties
as well as enhanced the policy on removable storage control to avoid
confidential data leakage. The Commission also continues to equip the
forensic IT team with the latest digital forensic knowledge.

During the year, the Commission has received a “Privacy-Friendly” Silver
Certificate from the Office of the Privacy Commissioner for Personal Data
for its continuous efforts in promoting the protection of personal data

privacy.

O BERBNEIBE AN EREEHE o
The Commission received recognition for its corporate
practices during the year.
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FINANCE

In 2020/2021, the Government maintained the financial support for the
Commission with an annual Government subvention of about HK$120
million. Starting from 2018/2019, a dedicated funding of HK$238 million
has also been provided to support the Commission’s litigation work. The
additional financial support has enabled the Commission to accomplish the
growing number of enforcement and litigation work and implement the
initiatives set out in the Three Year Strategic Plan.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO
THE COMMISSION MEMBERS OF COMPETITION COMMISSION

(11E (EEFHEG) HREBMKIL)

(Established in Hong Kong pursuant to the Competition Ordinance)
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HBEHKZESE Competition Commission

OPINION

We have audited the financial statements of Competition Commission (“the
Commission”) set out on pages 52 to 89, which comprise the statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2021, the income and expenditure account,
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in funds and
statement of cash flows for the year then ended and notes to the financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Commission as at 31 March 2021 and of its financial
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA").

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Commission in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code”) and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The Commission Members are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information

and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
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(115 (ERFEGIY & ERMIL)
(Established in Hong Kong pursuant to the Competition Ordinance)

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is
to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE COMMISSION MEMBERS
FORTHE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Commission Members are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and for such internal control as the Commission Members
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Commission Members are
responsible for assessing the Commission’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Commission
Members either intend to liquidate the Commission or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FORTHE AUDIT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report.
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HBEHKZESE Competition Commission

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of

internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Commission’s internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the Commission Members.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO

THE COMMISSION MEMBERS OF COMPETITION COMMISSION (CONTINUED)

- HREZEZERAFRCESFTERD
TEEMF AR - RIBFTEENEEE
g MEESFERBRNBELAMAA
BERTHEEN  HMARSHHRES
MBS NEEERRE - AR
MRBFEEATHEENE  MBALERE
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AIRFEERRFERERR - MM
HEam e B E MRS B IEFTES T
FTBRE - AR > RRFIRLER ATREE

B S THERREE -

- AMEMBmERAVEEBEIIERSX - FEMN
RE BERKE LRMBRRES
BERMZZMETE

BREMEBIRI - AFIRBREEEREER TEE
MEETEE  BERRH  EXBIRES 8
FBHMEESTPHER H A E M E AR

B o

ESRBHEEREMN
HETEAD
FHDIR
EFTHE 10 52
KFKE 8 #&

2021 9 H 24 H

(115 (ERFEGIY & ERMIL)
(Established in Hong Kong pursuant to the Competition Ordinance)

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the Commission Members’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Commission’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date
of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may

cause the Commission to cease to continue as a going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in @ manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Commission Members regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8" Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

24 September 2021
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Wz iRE
INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT

#E—F ——F = =-—HILFE for the year ended 31 March 2021
(LU #8317~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2021 2020
Bf#5% Note 75T HKS BT HKS

52

A Income

BUS 1B

Government subventions 3 127,929,719 124,352,710

BUS#EB) (EREAIIE)

Government litigation subventions 4 5,168,085 13,600,330

FLEUTA

Interest income 942,312 1,757,278

HAthg A

Other income 5 - 1,222,778
134,040,116 140,933,096

Sz i Expenditure

e

Staff expenses 6 70,332,725 64,382,872

HEZH

Enforcement expenses 7 10,595,015 29,714,199

SERARHERH

Publicity and public education expenses 6,943,796 5,289,235

BRRTsZHY

Premises expenses 2,011,336 4,000,263

mEELZEMe

Honorarium to Commission members 16 4,040,000 4,080,000

TZHEMEN 2

Auditor’s remuneration 145,000 138,000

e

Depreciation 8 14,003,552 11,482,020

At @&

Other operating expenses 6,029,232 9,777,300

HEaEFE

Interest on lease liabilities 862,265 1,030,217
114,962,921 129,894,106

FREER

Surplus for the year 19,077,195 11,038,990

% 59 £ 89 BRIMIEEBAR BT —25 -

HBEHKZESE Competition Commission

The notes on pages 59 to 89 form part of these financial statements.
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EFHBRRR
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

#HE—E——F = =+—HIEFE forthe year ended 31 March 2021
(LUE 317~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HRENRELWERELEE b TERNEL The Commission had no components of comprehensive income other
DI EUNESEOERRIER o Fitk - §8F & than “surplus for the year” in either of the years presented. Accordingly,

RAEEERRISESBESEEUNLESE » 58 no separate statement of comprehensive income is presented as the
e T EEIAMRSE A TEREL:  M8F - Commission’s “total comprehensive income” was the same as the “surplus
for the year”in both years.

25 59 £ 89 BAIMIFE B AT ERFTAI—365 © The notes on pages 59 to 89 form part of these financial statements.
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HIFS AR
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

WRZE-——F=H=-+—H asat 31 March 2021
(LU #8317~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

. 2021 2020
Bft5% Note 7BIT HKS BT HKS
JERENEE
Non-current assets
W - BEERRER TR
Property, plant and equipment 8 35,318,531 43,351,103
HMFEWER ~ #2& RFEMAR
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 9 1,662,360 1,662,360
36,980,891 45,013,463
mENEE
Current assets
EA UL ~ 12 RTRTR
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 9 2,005,053 5,962,763
H& RIRITHETF
Cash and bank balances 10(a) 110,800,344 103,383,411
112,805,397 109,346,174
ik =L
Current liabilities
BB = EHEH
Provision for staff entitlements 11 6,845,003 7,827,028
Hit AR EETER
Other payables and accruals 12 5,311,083 18,258,097
FEU BT 1A ED
Government subventions received in advance 13(a) 4,059,333 6,583,698
FEURELRT B (EREATIIE)
Government litigation subventions received in advance 4 12,974,058 -
fHEh B ER
Surplus subventions 14(b) 32,287,742 29,019,055
HERE
Lease liabilities 15 5,192,721 5,014,375
66,669,940 66,702,253
mENEERE
Net current assets 46,135,457 42,643,921
WEERTEAE
Total assets less current liabilities 83,116,348 87,657,384

% 59 £ 89 BRIMIEEBAR BT —25 -

HBEHKZESE Competition Commission

The notes on pages 59 to 89 form part of these financial statements.
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BFHIRAR (18)
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

R-E_—F=H=++—H asat31March 2021
(LUE #3177~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2021 2020
Ff#5% Note 7BIT HKS #BIT HKS

FRBEE

Non-current liabilities

HitE R BT E R

Other payables and accruals 12 4,021,850 3,823,450

I EZHHEER

Provision for staff entitlements 1 1,604,636 1,438,530

FEUS B AT #ED

Government subventions received in advance 13(a) 11,543,087 11,571,535

IRAEUT A

Deferred income 13(b) 11,777,850 12,509,837

HERE

Lease liabilities 15 16,712,806 21,905,527
45,660,229 51,248,879

BERE

Net assets 37,456,119 36,408,505

Bs

Funds

EREE

Reserve fund 14(a) 37,456,119 36,408,505

BmEERER 2021 F£ 9 A 24 BHEEREE Approved and authorised for issue by the Commission Members on

Tz - 24 September 2021.
PR ER Samuel CHAN Ka-yan
HEEEE Chairman of the Commission

25 59 £ 89 BAIMIFE B AT ERFTAI—365 © The notes on pages 59 to 89 form part of these financial statements.
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ExE2HR
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FUNDS

#E—F ——F = =-—HILFE for the year ended 31 March 2021
(LU #8317~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

EREE

Reserve fund
JBIT HK$

22019 F 4 B 1 BZ#EeR
Balance at 1 April 2019 36,180,980

2019/2020 FEE T EE) :
Changes in fund for 2019/2020:

FARGREEWEEE

Surplus and total comprehensive income for the year 11,038,990

BAREN B HEEIRER

Transfer to surplus subventions payable to the Government (10,811,465)

$2 2020 f£3 A 31 Hf12020 £4 B 1 HZ&8R
Balance at 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 36,408,505

2020/2021 FEE T EE) :
Changes in fund for 2020/2021:

FFEERGREEMEIEER

Surplus and total comprehensive income for the year 19,077,195
1A EN BT B R BR

Transfer to surplus subventions payable to the Government (18,029,581)
122021383102 #8k

Balance at 31 March 2021 37,456,119

25 59 8 89 BRIt AR TS ERFTAI—EL 5 - The notes on pages 59 to 89 form part of these financial statements.

HBEHKZESE Competition Commission
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RERER
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

#HE—E " —F = J=+—HIEFE for the year ended 31 March 2021

(LUE 317~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2021

BisE 2020
Note BT HKS #BIT HKS

&8 ;& 8) Operating activities
FRRER

Surplus for the year
§@% Adjustments for :
e

Depreciation

FISUA

Interest income

HERGEME

Interest on lease liabilities

BRI - AR AR RS

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment

REES R

Reversal of reinstatement provision
2 EE £ EE) Changes in working capital :
HtEUE: ~ mERFBATED / (JEM)

Decrease/(increase) in other receivables, deposits and prepayments

WEZHERER (L) /&

(Decrease)/increase in provision for staff entitlements

HAtEAMMEETER (R ) /1

(Decrease)/increase in other payables and accruals

FEURER BN ~ B A K AEENRER (RIS ) /1870

(Decrease)/increase in Government subventions received in advance, deferred
income and surplus subventions

FEWREL AT BBY (EREAI(E) 180/ CR)

Increase/(decrease) in Government litigation subventions received in advance

19,077,195 11,038,990

8 14,003,552 11,482,020

(942,312) (1,757,278)

862,265 1,030,217

5 = (2,778)

5 = (1,220,000)

3,625,266 (3,339,669)

(815,919) 1,652,662

(12,947,014) 15,199,707

(18,045,694) 1,233,335

12,974,058 (5,092,473)

BEEHMSHE RN

Net cash generated from operating activities

17,791,397 30,224,733

5 59 £ 58 89 BRIMIEEBAM BT —E7 -

The notes on pages 59 to 89 form part of these financial statements.
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RERER (#])
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

#E—F ——F = =-—HILFE for the year ended 31 March 2021
(LU #8317~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BifsE 2021 2020
Note JBIT HKS JBIT HKS

12 & ;EED Investing activities

BHFE

Interest received 1,274,756 1,690,838

XITEEME « 8RR HFIR

Payment for the purchase of property, plant and equipment (5,772,580) (16,485,091)
BRI - KRR R BT S RUR

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment - 18,200

[FfFR AR = {8 B AV SRTT 7 RO

Increase in bank deposits with original maturity over three months (16,500,000) (1,000,000)
REREMANRZ R

Net cash used in investing activities (20,997,824) (15,776,053)
F8 & ;&8) Financing activities

ENHEHEENERES

Capital element of lease rentals paid 10(b) (5,014,375) (3,866,983)
EfFEEHSNF S5

Interest element of lease rentals paid 10(b) (862,265) (1,030,217)
MBS ANRESE

Net cash used in financing activities (5,876,640) (4,897,200)
ReRBEEEY (AL ) /18

(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (9,083,067) 9,551,480
FHZRERREEFEY

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 67,383,411 57,831,931

FRZAZRREFEY

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 10(a) 58,300,344 67,383,411

25 59 8 89 BRIt AR TS ERFTAI—EL 5 - The notes on pages 59 to 89 form part of these financial statements.

HBEHKZESE Competition Commission
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BA TS e R B RE
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LUE M S 7~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

1. General information

Competition Commission (“the Commission”) is established under the
Competition Ordinance (“the Ordinance”), Cap. 619, as an independent
statutory body tasked with the functions to enforce the Ordinance. The
functions and powers of the Commission are stipulated in Sections 130
and 131 of the Ordinance. The Commission is committed to promoting a
competitive environment that is conductive to free flow of trade, efficiency
and innovation that brings more choices and better quality and prices of
goods and services to consumers. The address of its registered office is 19/F,
South Island Place, 8 Wong Chuk Hang Road, Wong Chuk Hang, Hong Kong.

The Commission is exempt from taxation in respect of the Inland Revenue
Ordinance in accordance with Schedule 5 of Section 22 of the Ordinance.

2. Significant accounting policies
(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all
applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"), which
collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong. Significant accounting policies adopted by the Commission are
disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective
or available for early adoption for the current accounting period of the
Commission. Note 2(c) provides information on any changes in accounting
policies resulting from initial application of these developments to the extent
that they are relevant to the Commission for the current and prior accounting
periods reflected in these financial statements.
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BAF5 3R RIIEE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LUB #5177~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2. EEREEBER (#)
(b) EATSERRIRGIELE

FUBRRDIRBEERAFTEEERS -

RUBREELUETZY  MAETREKERE
FHITNREEHE -

ERNGE (FEMBREEL) OMBRE
B BERBRFHREESIIECRNER UK
BiE - BE - WA AR S BERATHIER -
fhETANRER - B AT BRI R 2 EEER
BUEEBNREZERBELEASENSIER
fBRSR(FHRY - HASR SR TR H it
BEEMSHNEEREBEREENER - B
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EIREE TEERSIRMGENERRE - R
BEHEETRERT AR ERE — M - HREFE
BEZER AR - MRETHERIAKIKE
MIBERE - BITEFHERTAOEBR AR 2K EARS
fes® -

() EEHECREE

BRI AGERNTAT (EAMBREE
21y 1257 - BRAEEI EHRE SRS HIRE X

R e
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HBEHKZESE Competition Commission

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is
the historical cost basis.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HKS”), which
is the same as the functional currency of the Commission.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenditure. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

(c) Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective
for the current accounting period of the Commission.

None of the developments have had a material effect on how the
Commission’s results and financial position for the current or prior periods
have been prepared or presented. The Commission has not applied any new
standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for the current accounting
period.
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BA TS e R B RE
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LUE M S 7~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(d) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including right-of-use assets arising
from leases of underlying property (see note 2(e)) are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location
for its intended use. The costs of project-in-progress comprise expenditure
of capital projects not yet completed. Costs of completed projects are
transferred to the appropriate asset category. Repairs and maintenance are
charged to the income and expenditure account during the period in which
they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant and
equipment, less their estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-line
method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Leasehold improvements Shorter of the lease term or 3 years

Office equipment 3years
Computer hardware and software 3 years
Furniture and fixtures 3 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

Right-of-use assets Over the unexpired term of lease

No provision for depreciation is made for project-in-progress until such time
when the assets are substantially completed and ready for use.

Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed
annually.
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BAF5 3R RIIEE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LUB #5177~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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HBEHKZESE Competition Commission

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(d) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment are reviewed
for indications of impairment at the end of each reporting period. An
impairment loss is recognised in the income and expenditure account if the
carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceed its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset, or of the
cash-generating unit to which it belongs, is the greater of its fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the assets. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of property,
plant and equipment are determined as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are recognised in
the income and expenditure account on the date of retirement or disposal.

(e) Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Commission assesses whether the contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer
has both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.
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BA TS e R B RE
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LUE M S 7~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(e) Leased assets (continued)
As a lessee

At the lease commencement date, the Commission recognises a right-of-use
asset and a lease liability, except for short-term leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. When the Commission
enters into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Commission decides
whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments
associated with those leases which are not capitalised are recognised as an
expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially recognised at the
present value of the lease payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate. After initial
recognition, the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is calculated using the effective interest method. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and hence are charged to income and
expenditure account in the accounting period in which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is initially
measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, and
any initial direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-
use assets also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the
underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, discounted to their present value, less any lease incentives received.
The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see notes 2(d)).
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BAF5 3R RIIEE

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LUB #5177~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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HBEHKZESE Competition Commission

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(e) Leased assets (continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future lease
payments arising from a change in an index or rate, or there is a change in
the Commission’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a
residual value guarantee, or there is a change arising from the reassessment
of whether the Commission will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase,
extension or termination option. When the lease liability is remeasured in
this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the
right-of-use asset, or is recorded in income and expenditure if the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change in the scope of a
lease or the consideration for a lease that is not originally provided for in the
lease contract (“lease modification”) that is not accounted for as a separate
lease. In this case the lease liability is remeasured based on the revised lease
payments and lease term using a revised discount rate at the effective date
of the modification.

In the statement of financial position, the Commission presents right-of-use
assets within “property, plant and equipment” and presents lease liabilities
separately.

(f) Receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Commission has an unconditional right
to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration is unconditional if
only the passage of time is required before payment of that consideration is
due.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method
less allowance for credit losses as determined below:
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(f) Receivables (continued)

The loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected
credit losses (“ECLs"), which are those losses that are expected to occur over
the expected life of the receivables. The loss allowance is estimated using a
provision matrix based on the Commission’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and an assessment of
both the current and forecast general economic conditions at the reporting
date.

For all other financial instruments, the Commission recognises a loss
allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has been a significant
increase in credit risk of the financial instrument since initial recognition, in
which case the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date with any changes recognised
as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The Commission recognises
an impairment gain or loss with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying
amount of receivables through a loss allowance account.

The gross carrying amount of receivable is written off (either partially or
in full) to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is
generally the case when the Commission determines that the debtor does
not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash
flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

(g) Payables
Payables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently stated at

amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost.
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HBEHKZESE Competition Commission

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(h) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand, demand
deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having
been within three months of maturity at acquisition.

Employee benefits

Employee leave, gratuity and other entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave, gratuity and other
entitlements are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for untaken annual
leave, gratuity and other entitlements as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the year end date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave, maternity leave and
paternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Employee benefit expenses are charged as expense on an
accrual basis in the period in which the associated services are
rendered.

Defined contribution retirement scheme

The Commission has joined and made contributions to a
mandatory provident fund scheme established under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance.

The obligations for contributions to mandatory provident
fund scheme are recognised as an expense in the income and
expenditure account as incurred. The Commission has no
further payment obligation once the contributions have been
paid. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of
the Commission in an independently trustee-administered fund.
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(j) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Commission has a legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. When the time value of money is material, provisions
are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation
is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

(k) Income recognition
Details of the Commission’s income recognition policies are as follows:
(i) Government subventions

Government subventions are recognised initially when there
is reasonable assurance that they will be received and that the
Commission will comply with the conditions attaching to them.
Government subventions that compensate the Commission for
expenses incurred are recognised as income in the income and
expenditure account on a systematic basis in the same periods
in which the expenses are incurred. Government subventions
relating to expenditure for specific projects are deferred and
recognised in the income and expenditure account over the
period necessary to match them with the expenses that they
are intended to compensate. Deferred income arising from
property, plant and equipment for specific use acquired through
Government subventions is recognised in the Commission’s
income and expenditure account in accordance with the
depreciation policies of the related assets.
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2. FEFEBER (]) 2

(k) UWARITER? (48) (k)
(i) FAEEIA (ii)
FAEBWNABZEERREC AN
BRI EIAIR A o
(i) FIEHIA (iii)
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

Income recognition (continued)

Application fee income

Application fee income is recognised only to the extent of the
costs incurred that it is probable to be recoverable.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under the effective
interest method, using the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of an asset which necessarily takes a substantial period of time
to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of
that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they

are incurred.

(m) FABAL

()  FZALEZERKELE IR (i)
BEEHIREMA L - BREZAL -

e e Rt RS
HRZEREAREN B

BREENETREERE

HBEHKZESE Competition Commission

(m) Related parties

A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the
Commission if that person:

(a)

has control or joint control over the Commission;

(b)  has significant influence over the Commission; or

(0

is a member of the key management personnel of the
Commission.
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(ii)
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

(m) Related parties (continued)

FELLFEMIERT » —EEEe#ig (i) An entity is related to the Commission if any of the following

BHIESEE e LRI conditions applies:

(a) FERBEZeAR—£E (@)  The entity and the Commission are members of the same
RE (IEEEBAT  KME group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and

(e)

(f)

(h)

ARKERMBLARZEE
BEAE -

fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

—EREE —EREABEN (b)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
AIESE AT (BB N entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
A ASEATEYE—E5e group of which the other entity is a member).
HER—KE) -

MEESRER—F=ENS ()  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.
—EREE B EZHELN (d)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
AME—EREAIEZE=E entity is an associate of the third entity.

R AT

ZEEERHEERBEL
BAE B FHRETRERE
SHER ERES -

ZERERIE (m)() I’BPFTHER
BN L RTERFI L R -

£ (m)(i)(a) IR A AT 3% 3l B9 A
TMRATHZEEREX
FET BFEALTEZERE
(BERZEBMNIAR) MNE
REBABZKE -

ZER SHMBN—RE
B EMERERREE RM
ITRERAERS -

(e)

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Commission or an
entity related to the Commission.

The entity is controlled or jointly-controlled by a person
identified in (m)(i).

A person identified in (m)(i)(a) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the

Commission.
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2. FESHBE (48) 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(m) BEBEATLT (48) (m) Related parties (continued)

FZATHR RS EIEEHETEE S HE Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may
HAJREX B A TS 3 A T LT ER be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings
8o with the entity.

3. BF#EED 3. Government subventions

BB iETEBEMITHERAT ( "HAF ) Government subventions represent the funds granted by the Government
HEER e pEEr  LIBIT (IE6) SRS - of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“the Government”) for the
TEERNEH BTSN EFE U2 1R B RFESRHY Commission to discharge its duties under the Ordinance. Reconciliation
BUF B RERA T ¢ between Government subventions granted for the year and Government

subventions recognised in the income and expenditure account during the

year is as follows:

R ¥EED FEHRE HEED HEh &R
Recurrent  Non-recurrent Surplus ait
subventions subventions subventions Total
BT HK$ BT HKS BT HKS BT HKS
A RIER 2 BB
Government subvention granted for the year 120,496,000 199,490 - 120,695,490

AR H F A RE SRRV ELAT 48BN (BdEE13(@))
Government subventions received in prior years
and recognised during the year (Note 13(a)) 1,515,755 223,509 - 1,739,264

HE R REHE G TR U IR B RS AV MEBN B BR
(BdzE14(0) )

Surplus subvention approved and recognised in
the income and expenditure account during

the year (note 14(b)) - - 2,223,341 2,223,341
EREUT A BESE (FIEE13(b))
Amortisation of deferred income (Note 13(b)) 717,067 4,788,133 576,424 6,081,624

BATAWBUTHEE) (HiEE13@))

Transfer to Government subventions received

in advance (Note 13(a)) (2,810,000) - - (2,810,000)
FEUSZ IR B R FERBAYELAS 17BN
Government subventions recognised in the 119,918,822 5,211,132 2,799,765 127,929,719

income and expenditure account

70 HBEKZTEE Competition Commission



CLE TS

Financial Statements

BA TS e R B RE
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LUE M S 7~ Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3. BUfFHEEn (48) 3. Government subventions (continued)

TEwEEn FEHR EHEED W& e
Recurrent  Non-recurrent Surplus
subventions subventions subventions
7BJT HK$ BIT HK$ BT HK$
AE RS 2 BB
Government subvention granted for the year 119,224,000 11,930,000 - 131,154,000

TR AL 7S F REEBRI BN BN (FdEE13(a))
Government subventions received in prior years
and recognised during the year (Note 13(a)) 1,589,252 1,709,916 - 3,299,168

KR P REHE I FE U 2 IR B A REEB RV BN B BT
(BftzE 14(b))

Surplus subvention approved and recognised in
the income and expenditure account during

the year (note 14(b)) - - 479,728 479,728
RAEUT A (FEEE13(b))
Amortisation of deferred income (Note 13(b)) 396,236 3,026,504 141,074 3,563,814

BATARBUSHEE) (F3EE136))

Transfer to Government subventions received

in advance (Note 13(a)) (2,214,000) (11,930,000) - (14,144,000)
TEU 32 R B FEEBRIELAT #BN
Government subventions recognised in the 118,995,488 4,736,420 620,802 124,352,710

income and expenditure account

4. BF#EN (EFERTE) 4. Government litigation subventions

2021 2020
JBIT HKS 7BIT HKS

REAER / BUAIEIRTFEB) (FFEATIIE)
Government litigation subventions received / receivable for the year 18,142,143 8,507,857
TR A A FAFESSAVELAS RN (EREATIIE)
Government litigation subventions received in prior years and recognised
during the year - 5,092,473

BATAIEATHEB) (EREATIE)

Transfer to Government litigation subventions received in advance (12,974,058) -

U2 R B FEEBRI B BN (FREATIIE)
Government litigation subventions recognised in the
income and expenditure account 5,168,085 13,600,330
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5. H{higA 5. Otherincome
2021 2020
/BJT HKS 7BJT HKS
BB ~ HEER R AR TR
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment - 2,778
R
Reversal of reinstatement provision - 1,220,000
- 1,222,778
6. EBEMX 6. Staff expenses
2021 2020
/BIT HK$ BT HK$
e REAmEF
Salaries and other benefits 69,185,925 63,348,463
BHEIMEATERETEIZ MR
Contributions to mandatory provident fund scheme 1,146,800 1,034,409
70,332,725 64,382,872
7. HiEEH 7. Enforcement expenses
2021 2020
/BT HK$ #BIT HKS
FHEZH
Investigation expenses 4,696,930 15,980,673
FREASTH
Litigation expenses 5,168,085 13,600,330
HAth
Others 730,000 133,196
10,595,015 29,714,199

HBEHKZESE Competition Commission
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8. ¥ - MBRIBE 8. Property, plant and equipment

ElEiEt
Rt iR
HEMRKE BOERE  computer EEERE AE HERER EREEE

Leasehold Office hardware Furniture Motor Project- Right-of-use Skt
improvements equipment and software and fixtures vehicles in-progress assets Total

BITHKS BT HKS BITHKS  ETHKS BT HKS EITHKS  EBITHKS BT HKS

2 Cost

#2019F481H

At 1 April 2019 9,027,736 1,529,625 17,652,774 587,213 285,677 261,075 - 29,344,100
BE

Additions 14,002,537 1,604,591 2,537,688 110,888 - 2,052,837 30,786,885 51,095,426
B

Disposals (8,970,304) (603,315) (2,392,807) (488,145) - - - (12,454,571
BA

Transfer 61,275 - 71,800 - - (133,075) - -
#420205F3831H

At 31 March 2020 14,121,244 2,530,901 17,869,455 209,956 285,677 2,180,837 30,786,885 67,984,955

FEHIE Accumulated depreciation

72019%F481H
At 1 April 2019 8,901,283 1,486,942 14,348,399 578,204 276,153 - - 25,590,981

e
Charges 3974869 246339 2,084,064 36,076 9,524 - 5131,148 11,482,020

g iEzE
Written back on
disposals (8,970,304) (597,765)  (2,386,670) (484,410) - - - (12,439,149)

#820205F3831H
At 31 March 2020 3,005,848  1,135516 14,045,793 129,870 285,677 - 5131,148 24,633,852

YR (& Carrying amount

$£2020%3831H
At 31 March 2020 10,215,396 1,395,385 3,823,662 80,086 - 2,180,837 25655737 43,351,103
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8. ¥ - MRBNH (8) 8. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

BhgiEe
_ ERE  BRE
BRWERE WOAZHE  computer EEEHE SE EREE SRAEEE

Leasehold Office hardware Furniture Motor Project- Right-of-use
improvements equipment and software and fixtures vehicles in-progress assets

BITHKS BT HKS BITHKS  EBoHKS B HKS  BiTHKS BT HKS

7 Cost

12202048 1H

At 1 April 2020 14,121,244 2,530,901 17,869,455 209,956 285,677 2,180,837 30,786,885 67,984,955
BE

Additions 459,450 313,540 2,453,439 - - 2,744,551 - 5,970,980
i

Disposals - (26,080) (1,938) (2,268) - - - (30,286)
A

Transfer - - 3,825,887 - - (3,825,887) - -
7202138318

At 31 March 2021 14,580,694 2,818,361 24,146,843 207,688 285,677 1,099,501 30,786,885 73,925,649

B EHFE Accumulated depreciation

#2020F481H
At 1 April 2020 3,005,848 1,135,516 14,045,793 129,870 285,677 - 5131,148 24,633,852

e
Charges 4,861,633 577,998 3,395,806 36,963 - - 5,131,152 14,003,552
RIEE

Written back on
disposals - (26,080) (1,938) (2,268) - - - (30,286)

742021838318
At 31 March 2021 8,767,481 1,687,434 17,439,661 164,565 285,677 - 10,262,300 38,607,118

PR {E Carrying amount

#2021%3831H
At 31 March 2021 5813213 1,130,927 6,707,182 43,123 - 1,099,501 20,524,585 35,318,531
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8. ¥ HRBH (&) 8. Property, plant and equipment (continued)
ERESEE Right-of-use assets

RS EN AN RS EMNIEE R ESM  Theanalysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by class of underlying
Byl asset is as follows:

2021 2020
FBIT HKS BT HKS

LIrERAARREER B
Properties leased for own use, carried at depreciated cost 20,524,585 25,655,737

EfEER MR AR EHEN S HIE B 951 The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in profit or loss

mF is as follows:
2021 2020

BT HK$ 7BIT HKS
RHEERMEERAEEENTEERR
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets of properties leased for own use 5,131,152 5,131,148
MERGEHNE
Interest on lease liabilities 862,265 1,030,217
B HIH E B RVER
Expense relating to short-term leases - 1,752,000

HE_E-EF="B=4+—HILFE - il {F During the year ended 31 March 2020, addition to right-of-use assets were
AREEEEZ 30,786,885 JT ' {EEAFFALIES $30,786,885, solely related to the capitalised lease payments payable under
BRI LEMIEENFZEERE - AFE MR new tenancy agreement. No addition to right-of-use assets for the current
BEFEAEEE - year.

HEESNRSAHESEFE  HEaEnE Details of total cash outflow for leases, the maturity analysis of lease liabilities
HAO4F - LIR kBt E SR E A YR K IR and the future cash outflows arising from leases that are not yet commenced
RIRHEFFIED BUAHIEE 10(c) FIBHIEE 15 Tl - are set out in notes 10(c) and 15 respectively.
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9. HMEBUWK - HERFAMT

9. Otherreceivables, deposits and prepayments

2021 2020
BT HK$ BT HK$
EABFEIGR
Other receivables 80,768 463,268
FEUSEL RS #EBh (EREATIE)
Government litigation subventions receivable - 4,457,857
FEUFEAS = 4 ED
Non-recurrent subventions receivable 199,490 -
HBe R
Deposits and prepayments 3,387,155 2,703,998
3,667,413 7,625,123
7 Represented by :
EnEk s
Current portion 2,005,053 5,962,763
IERENER S
Non-current portion 1,662,360 1,662,360
3,667,413 7,625,123

BREEHNAERENEER THOE MBI -« 18
E R AR —E AN EISEEAER -

HBEHKZESE Competition Commission

All of the Commission’s other receivables, deposits and prepayments under

current assets are expected to be recovered or recognised as expenses

within one year.
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10. Cash and bank balances

(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

2021 2020
7T HKS BIT HKS

Re RI/ITHEE

Cash and bank balances 49,300,344 39,383,411

Rz AT 8B =8 B AVAEHASRITIF X

Short-term bank deposits with original maturity not more than three months 9,000,000 28,000,000

ReRVEFEY

Cash and cash equivalents 58,300,344 67,383,411

Rz AR E = B A A ERTTE

Bank deposits with original maturity over three months 52,500,000 36,000,000
110,800,344 103,383,411

(b) REEENEEMRBEMHIR

TRELHZESREMEIDNEEES &
RESRIIFESEE - MERDEENERER
BEREBNARKESRERERZTTNREMN
BEXRPOELAMEZDRERE -

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities:

The table below details changes in the Commission’s liabilities from financing
activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from
financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash
flows will be, classified in the statement of cash flows as cash flows from
financing activities.
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10. RERBTERE () 10. Cash and bank balances (continued)

HEAE

Lease liabilities

(Ft§% Note 15)
JBIT HKS

#20198481H
At 1 April 2019

R EIR S 2 E8) Changes from financing cash flows:
EHEERLNEARSS

Capital element of lease rentals paid (3,866,983)
EHA SR E585

Interest element of lease rentals paid (1,030,217)
RAE IR MRV EN1R%R

Total changes from financing cash flows (4,897,200)
E {th##8) Other changes:

FEZH

Interest expenses 1,030,217
TEHEEAL (FiFE8)

Capitalisation of operating leases (note 8) 30,786,885
HA B EhHEEE

Total other changes 31,817,102

20203 831 HK&2020564H1H
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 26,919,902

P EIR S 2 28) Changes from financing cash flows :
ENHEHEENEARSTS

Capital element of lease rentals paid (5,014,375)
ENHEHR S B354

Interest element of lease rentals paid (862,265)
R IR SRRV ENIRER

Total changes from financing cash flows (5,876,640)
E {th#E) Other changes:

FEZH

Interest expenses 862,265
22021 F3H31H

At 31 March 2021 21,905,527
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10. RERBTERE (8) 10. Cash and bank balances (continued)
() AER=FFHHEEE (c) Total cash outflow for leases
HABRSASRNEEL5ERIE Amounts included in the cash flow statement for leases comprise the
following:
2021 2020
/BIT HK$ /BT HK$
HERBRA
Within operating cash flows - 1,752,000
RMERSARA
Within financing cash flows 5,876,640 4,897,200
5,876,640 6,649,200
11. BESHEREE 11. Provision for staff entitlements
2021 2020
7BIT HK$ 78T HKS
F1
At the beginning of the year 9,265,558 7,612,896
2
Provisions made 7,965,386 6,645,592
HUH
Forfeitures (230,021) (150,863)
EXIRERZEER
Amounts paid and utilised (8,551,284) (4,842,067)
FXR
At the end of the year 8,449,639 9,265,558
W mEnER s
Less: Current portion (6,845,003) (7,827,028)
SHEh
IFRENEES 1,604,636 1,438,530

Non-current portion

B EXRMSBEE AN TEESlEINEAN Provision for staff entitlements is set up for gratuity payments, unutilised

HIR ek &% EIR TR SN ERMEMXEEN  annual leave and other staff-related benefits which will be payable to

4 KN EBREMES S HR MR - employees of the Commission upon their fulfilment during the contract
period or at end of the contract period.
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12. HitEI R REER

12. Other payables and accruals

2021 2020
BT HK$ BT HK$
EAhFEAT R
Other payables 335,384 7,454,387
FEETER
Accrued expenses 4,747,387 10,641,795
HAth
Others 4,250,162 3,985,365
9,332,933 22,081,547
7 Represented by :
mEnEk s
Current portion 5,311,083 18,258,097
JERENER 5>
Non-current portion 4,021,850 3,823,450
9,332,933 22,081,547

FrERENREIR FROE MM R BT ERTR
T —ERREE ©

HBEHKZESE Competition Commission

All of the other payables and accruals under current liabilities are expected

to be settled within one year.



13. FRUKEFT # Bh B R FEUR A

(a) TFEUREXFTHEED
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13. Government subventions received in advance and
deferred income

(a) Government subventions received in advance

2021 2020
FEIT HKS FIT HKS

F4)
At the beginning of the year 18,155,233 21,631,835
HUsZ IR B ARSI SRR (FIEE3)
Amount recognised in income and expenditure account (Note 3) (1,739,264) (3,299,168)
HRERREIE R 28 B REBAHED (FfEE3)
Subventions received during the year and to be recognised

within 12 months (Note 3) 2,810,000 14,144,000
BARIEUA (BIEE13(0))
Transfer to deferred income (Note 13(b)) (3,623,549) (14,321,434)
FX
At the end of the year 15,602,420 18,155,233
7~ Represented by :
mENER s>
Current portion 4,059,333 6,583,698
IERENER S
Non-current portion 11,543,087 11,571,535

15,602,420 18,155,233

TR EUS #B 2 RAN & B RUE IR EREE
M EREARBIAETTRIIR B MAAUAIFIR © 1t
FHESREARREHERER X HEERH
A IE ISz IR E ARERS AULA -

FERE A REFHRBUSKN —2—NEF—A+H
AR T MR LUK BMR LR B Mz
M —RMEE S - MEEZREHAREKE
m o

Government subventions received in advance represent subventions
received in connection with expenditure to be incurred after the end of the
reporting period for specific uses and are deferred and recognised as income
in the income and expenditure account on a systematic basis in the same
period in which the expenditure is incurred.

The balance under non-current portion represents an additional one-off
funding granted by the Government on 10 February 2014 for conducting
groundwork research and one-off expenses to support and strengthen
the Commission’s initial set-up, which remains unutilised at the end of the
reporting period.
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13. TARERTFHEBN B EIEUT A (48 )

(b) EIEUTA

13. Government subventions received in advance and
deferred income (continued)

(b) Deferred income

2021 2020

7BJT HK$ BT HK$
1)
At the beginning of the year 12,509,837 -
BB TR EUTHEED (FiEE136))
Transfer from Government subventions received in advance (Note 13(a)) 3,623,549 14,321,434
BB R (FFEE14(b))
Transfer from surplus subventions (Note 14(b)) 1,726,088 1,752,217
TR (FEE3)
Amortisation for the year (Note 3) (6,081,624) (3,563,814)
FR
At the end of the year 11,777,850 12,509,837

EIEWAFEF ISR BUS HEN B BRI E B ERY
B HENSRREMAEME « KR
1 o BB ATE RS IRPFERR ABUTA - LU
HATREEERE ERVINEER -

14. FiEE=MEEIEER
(a) FEEE=E

RFEESAF—MAE THBREEEETE
A - RBEMEFESRX  RREESAREH
BB T SRR EZE N TEMEE
& Z BURS#EBhERRY 25% ( " REf_EBR 1)  BRIE
BFABBREESREEANER (IBRIK
R EHAVEEBRERR (EBR) #
RFH R LR - &SRB s EBRAYER 2 /RER
BB

HBEHKZESE Competition Commission

The balance of deferred income represents the value of specific assets
financed by the Government subventions with corresponding amounts
capitalised as property, plant and equipment. Such deferred income is
recognised as income in the income and expenditure account to offset
against the charges of depreciation of the relevant assets acquired.

14. Reserve fund and surplus subventions

(a) Reserve fund

The reserve fund is available for general use and can be spent at the
discretion of the Commission. Unspent Government subventions at the
end of a financial year, which forms a part of the reserve fund, shall not
exceed 25% of the Government subventions to the Commission in the
following financial year (“the reserve ceiling”). The amount in excess of the
reserve ceiling would be returned to the Government, unless the reserve
ceiling is raised by the Permanent Secretary for Commerce and Economic
Development (Commerce, Industry and Tourism) following consultation with
the Financial Services and the Treasury Bureau (The Treasury Branch).



14. RBEEEMNHES (&)

(b) HEENEER

2021 2020
BT HKS BT HKS
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14. Reserve fund and surplus subventions (continued)

(b)

Surplus subventions

T4

At the beginning of the year 29,019,055 26,007,490

FRERMNEEE (FIEE3)

Amount utilised during the year (Note 3) (2,223,341) (479,728)

ABAHEZERI2EE (BHREG )

Amount repaid to the Government (Note (i) (10,811,465) (5,567,955)

BAJRLEA (FIEE13(b))

Transferred to deferred income (Note 13(b)) (1,726,088) (1,752,217)

BEREm (FIEEGD)

Transferred from reserve (Note (ii)) 18,029,581 10,811,465

TR

At the end of the year 32,287,742 29,019,055
BrEE - Notes:

(i)

(ii)

BERZE g I ESETHOE - 1REIER T A9 1,824
BTN R ERF] 220 BT ERRIMEBI BB EE — T _—
F=A=+—H ' LENBEZENEESH - #E_—F
Z—F=HB=+—H - 5t 1,426 BITAIFEEIRERIL K
& o (ZEZZF 1,821 Bit)

RiBHZ T —F=F=1—HAIEE LR - #BHfF
fig_EBR 18,029,581 7T ( —ZZ"ZF 1 : 10,811,465 7T ) AY
REAGTE T — BT F B EREAEBURT ©

(i)

(if)

In previous years, the Commission proposed and obtained approval from the Government
to retain the remaining surplus subvention of $18.24 million and an additional surplus
subvention of $2.2 million until 31 March 2022, for meeting specific expenditure of the
Commission. As at 31 March 2021, a total of $14.26 million has not yet been utilised (2020:
$18.21 million).

Based on the reserve ceiling as at 31 March 2021, the surplus in excess of the reserve ceiling
amounting to $18,029,581 (2020: $10,811,465) will be returned to the Government in the next
financial year.
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15. HE&88 15. Lease liabilities

TR TisZeHEBREARSHIFRMN E The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of the

— SR HAR A FIER S HVHAR - Commission’s lease liabilities at the end of the current and previous reporting
periods:
2021 2020
HEMA% HEMAH
ZRE HEFAF ZRE
Present value L] Present value
of the lease Total lease of the lease Total lease
payments payments payments payments
BT HKS BT HKS BT HKS BT HK$
—FR
Within 1 year 5,192,721 5,876,640 5,014,375 5,876,640
—FHEZFR
After 1 year but within 2 years 5,377,409 5,876,640 5,192,721 5,876,640
“HFHELEA
After 2 years but within 5 years 11,335,397 11,753,280 16,712,806 17,629,920
16,712,806 17,629,920 21,905,527 23,506,560
21,905,527 23,506,560 26,919,902 29,383,200
W ARRF B3 HEER
Less: total future interest expenses (1,601,033) (2,463,298)
1=E =3
HAERMAZRE 21,905,527 26,919,902

Present value of lease liabilities
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16. Material related party transactions

The Commission entered into the following material related party
transactions during the year:

2021 2020
7BJT HKS BJT HKS
FEETEASRM
Key management compensation
e REAMET
Salaries and other benefits 15,036,377 11,739,221
EHIMEATERET B2 MR
Contributions to mandatory provident fund scheme 54,000 54,000
15,090,377 11,793,221
REERENE
Honorarium to Commission members 4,040,000 4,080,000

AL RBEERERTREEANBVERT
BN ENERRERRERS  987EH
BEBBRPREGRZENIUHEERERR
FERZ T ©

17. &I

RZE_—F=H=1+—BKEMMX
AEMBHRARBEGHEFRIEN
F:

All transactions related to the procurement of goods and services involving
organisations in which a member of the Commission and key management
personnel may have an interest are conducted in the normal course of
business and in accordance with the Commission’s financial obligations and
normal procurement procedures.

17. Commitments

Capital commitments outstanding at 31 March 2021 not
provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

2021 2020
7BIT HKS 77T HKS
wHES]
Contracted for 408,860 3,168,517
ERERRETH
Authorised but not contracted for 15,600 -
424,460 3,168,517
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18. MBEMEERE=MT RN
ARrE

BEEZIRUB T AEERTER - EER
REFHEECEE BRESTHEMBE
EEREENEMI A  SEEMENT - 17
& HttENRREER « RIS FEEDLL
REEIRE - EEREAREFMARES
R R RENE £ EE - SRS —MEBRT
KLU RS AN 2 AR ERE -

(a) EERE

EERARIEZ S FRERTEEERNE
BRAZEEMEBRZESRBRZAM -
BREEHNEERRERREEMMNEE
AR RF R i/ IME B ERA) RS 2 SR1THE
7o

BEEMEESMEEMARNEERMANA
FeMBEENE2RPRIOREE - BRI E
MtFEMEEFHEMERR -

(b) RENEE B
HEENBE AT IR T HIRR R FAEARED

BEFXR - LR REMES E IR S RmLEM
EHERRRPZTHESER -

HBEHKZESE Competition Commission

18. Financial risk management and fair value of
financial instruments

The Commission’s principal financial instrument comprises bank balances,
of which the purpose is to maintain the Commission’s operations. The
Commission has other financial instruments, such as other receivables,
deposits, other payables, accruals, Government subventions received in
advance and surplus subventions, which arise directly from its operations.
The Commission is exposed to credit risk and liquidity risk which arise directly
from its activities. The Commission generally adopts conservative strategies
on the Commission’s risk management and limits the Commission’s exposure

to these risks to a minimum.
(@) Creditrisk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its obligations
to repay the amounts due to the Commission resulting in a loss to the
Commission. The Commission’s credit risk is primarily attributable to bank
balances, which are deposited with financial institutions in Hong Kong with
sound credit ratings and minimal credit exposure.

The maximum exposure to credit risk of the Commission’s financial assets
represents their carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period. The
Commission does not hold any collateral over these assets.

(b) Liquidity risk
The Commission’s policy is to regularly monitor its current and expected

liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash
to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.
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18. Financial risk management and fair value of
financial instruments (continued)

18. FEMEEREMTEYN
[iE (8)
(b) mEIESERE (8) (b) Liquidity risk (continued)

The remaining undiscounted contractual maturity profile of the Commission’s

MRERBR  BESKBHREREREREZ
RPEEHEEE - 8 PRITHEZGH92HR

financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period, based on the earliest

AN - date on which the Commission is required to settle is summarised below:
2021
KIFRESHRER
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
—FE
— TR BREUT
ENFFZIHA More than IREEEE
Within 1 year or 1 year but less Carrying
on demand than 5 years amount
BT HKS BT HKS BIT HKS
B =B HEE R
Provision for staff entitlements 6,845,003 1,604,636 8,449,639 8,449,639
EAth e R R R & P
Other payables and accruals 5,311,083 4,021,850 9,332,933 9,332,933
HEaE
Lease liabilities 5,876,640 17,629,920 23,506,560 21,905,527
FRUTBUT 4B
Government subventions received in advance 4,059,333 11,543,087 15,602,420 15,602,420
FEULEL AT #EBD (FREATIE)
Government litigation subventions received in
advance 12,974,058 - 12,974,058 12,974,058
BN B ER
Surplus subventions 32,287,742 - 32,287,742 32,287,742
67,353,859 34,799,493 102,153,352 100,552,319
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18. MBEMEERRE=MT RN
ARE (])

(b) HENEZERE (I8)

18. Financial risk management and fair value of
financial instruments (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued)

2020
KFRSHR=ER
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
—EI E
— LRk BREUTF
ENeEFEIHA More than IREEEE
Within 1 year or 1 year but less Carrying
on demand than 5 years amount
BT HKS BT HKS BT HKS
e = E#EH
Provision for staff entitlements 7,827,028 1,438,530 9,265,558 9,265,558
HittEARREER
Other payables and accruals 18,258,097 3,823,450 22,081,547 22,081,547
HEAR®E
Lease liabilities 5,876,640 23,506,560 29,383,200 26,919,902
FEUS B AF 4B
Government subventions received in advance 6,583,698 11,571,535 18,155,233 18,155,233
BN R AR
Surplus subventions 29,019,055 - 29,019,055 29,019,055
67,564,518 40,340,075 107,904,593 105,441,295

(c0 E¥A

1

BRESMANZSHETHE  BiEEREM
REAREANEBERRE

(d) BEFEHE
HEEEEEEERN  EAENEHENRES

RORHEIFRES) - BERNBIEREAES
ST o

HBEHKZESE Competition Commission

(c) Currencyrisk

The Commission has no significant exposure to currency risk as substantially
all of the Commission’s transactions are denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

(d) Capital management
The Commission’s primary objectives when managing its funds are to

safeguard the Commission’s ability to continue as a going concern. The
Commission’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.



HERBREEREMTI AN
ARE (8)

18.

(e) AR{EEE

RERER DR T BB AR ATIRAY
REERENR-_E-_—FR-_ZE-_ZFTF=H8
=t+—HHARELEEREE -

19. BE_E_—-F=A=+—HL
FEEEIEERMHERKEN
KEET - MERIREZETRERR
MR &

BEAUBRATIRAMIE - FEGHAAE

BT E TSR R—IRHER] (FBMIEHE

A8 #1785 TRIBEN.  HRBE-S

Z—HZAS+—BILEEERER AU

WRIREFMLEIER - BLERBLE

TR RS ARIER -
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18. Financial risk management and fair value of
financial instruments (continued)

(e) Fairvalue measurement

The carrying amounts of the Commission’s financial instruments carried
at amortised cost are not materially different from their fair values as at 31
March 2021 and 2020.

19. Possible impact of amendments, new standards
and interpretations issued but not yet effective for
the year ended 31 March 2021

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a
number of amendments and a new standard, HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts,
which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 March 2021 and which
have not been adopted in these financial statements. These developments
include the following which may be relevant to the Commission.

FRLAT B EAEk LA iR BASARY
ERHHIR £

Effective for accounting periods
beginning on or after

(EEBRELER) F165%E7T " B AABRAAVEEEE 2020568 1H
Amendment to HKFRS 16, Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions 1 June 2020
(EBEMELER) F1657185T M 202156 3004 BB A BRI SEE 20215481H
Amendment to HKFRS 16, Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 1 April 2021
(EBISMEAA) 2018F 2020 BHAF LN HE 2022F181H
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018 — 2020 Cycle 1 January 2022
(EARAEEER) E15RMERT DREBEIEREIREE 2023F1H1H

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 1 January 2023

sERE |1 SE S LE R L S B 0 e 4THAR  The Commission is in the process of making an assessment of what the
HWEE - BZBNAL > REFHEERMEL

BRI T RAIREEHUBRRELEEATE -

impact of these developments is expected to be in the period of initial
application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to
have a significant impact on the financial statements.
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